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GARTNERGROUP IS THE PREMIER RESOURCE FOR BOTTOM-LINE, BUSINESS-ORIENTED UNDERSTANDING
OF TECHNOLOGY TRENDS AND DEVELOPMENTS. FROM MEASUREMENT, RESEARCH AND ANALYSIS TO
CONSULTING AND DECISION SUPPORT, THE COMPANY OFFERS DECISION MAKERS ACROSS THE WORLD

THE INTEGRATED, INFORMED PERSPECTIVE THEY NEED TO OPERATE SUCCESSFULLY IN THE WORLD'S
MOST VOLATILE INDUSTRY.
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MANNY FERNANDEZ
Chairman of the Board
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

For anyone familiar with GartnerGroup and the information technology (IT) industry in general,
the idea of “pause” is absurd. In an environment like ours, where change and competitive struggle
only accelerate, there is no pause. The winners must move faster than the changes.

GartnerGroup is the world’s leading authority in this fascinating and highly volatile field not
only because we stay ahead of change, but because we make sense of it. The unmatched quality of
our research, the unrivaled experience of our analysts, and the innovative ways in which we deliver
this advice and information to our clients help bring clarity to their IT decision-making process.
These are our greatest assets. We cultivate them diligently.

I am frequently asked about the “next big issue.” The reality is this: In the same way there is
no pausing in IT, there is no “next big issue.” Chief information officers everywhere face a steady
succession of big issues that rise, descend, and overlie each other like tectonic plates. While grap-
pling with the fundamental need to better align IT and the business goals of their enterprise, they
are simultaneously devising E-commerce strategies, battling year 2000 and European currency
deadlines, operating within a competitive labor market, and trying to understand the shape their
organization must take in the years to come.

On all these issues — in fact, on the entire landscape of IT— GartnerGroup continues to offer
the world’s most valued, vendor-independent perspective, because we continue to invest in the
products and services that make a difference to our clients’ IT performance.

During the past year, our ranks grew to include more than 800 analysts in 80 locations
worldwide. We introduced new innovations such as Total Cost of Ownership (TCO) software for
distributed computing environments, Risk Manager: Year 2000, and GartnerOne, an extraordinarily
innovative product architecture for delivering targeted and flexible advice and information.

We remain the only firm of our kind offering measurement databases of exceptional integrity,
a global perspective on market supply, and predictions backed by probabilities.

Nineteen ninety-eight was also marked by two major milestones for GartnerGroup. The com-
pany announced a recapitalization, allowing for a spinoff by IMS Health of its 47 percent equity
position in GartnerGroup. The recapitalization will free GartnerGroup from uncertainties and
create a stronger, more flexible corporation. In addition, on September 15, 1998, GartnerGroup
stock was traded for the first time on the New York Stock Exchange, a move that underscores our
industry position and international presence. Our new ticker symbol is elegantly concise: IT.

For our fifth record year as a public company — a year of tumult in world economic markets
— we achieved growth rates of more than 20 percent in terms of revenue and earnings per share,
and equally healthy growth in operating margins and new accounts, while maintaining 85 percent
renewal rates. In his message on the pages that follow, GartnerGroup’s next CEO, Bill Clifford,
will provide further details and insights about the past year and the year to come.

Bill’s appointment to CEO, effective January 1999, is a natural transition for GartnerGroup.
He is an executive of exceptional insight and ability. He leads a dedicated group of associates who,
in an industry plagued with talent shortfalls, represent one of the most formidable aggregations
of brainpower anywhere in the IT world. Our success this year is their doing, in conjunction with
our loyal clients, shareholders and board members. All deserve our thanks.

As for me, the past eight years as CEO have been the most rewarding of my career. Over the
next few years, I will switch gears and focus more on the future, identifying the initiatives that
will make GartnerGroup the multibillion-dollar company we intend it to be.

Pause? Not a chance.
M Fﬂtzm:?

MANNY,"III;:ERNANDEZ
Chairman of the Board
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way there is no pausing in IT,

Chief information officers everywhere face a steady succession of big issues that rise, descend,
and overlie each other like tectonic plates.
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Presidents Letter artnerGroup marked another year of out-
standing achievement in 1998. While meet-
ing our growth expectations and financial
goals, we continued to invest in new products

and services to enhance and improve client

access to our world-leading research.

Revenues grew to $642 million from $511 million in 1997, a 26 percent increase. Net income was
up 34 percent to $98 million from $73 million and earnings per share rose 31 percent to 93 cents
from 71 cents (excluding, in both cases, acquisition-related and nonrecurring charges and a loss on
the sale of GartnerLearning). Operating contribution margin was on target at 25 percent, excluding
the significant investment in GartnerLearning.

Contract value, an indicator of the company’s renewable business, was $597 million at fiscal
year-end, an 18 percent improvement over 1997. While this fell short of last year’s growth, it was,
nevertheless, a significant achievement in light of the Asian economic crisis and its consequent

reverberations within the global economy.

BILL CLIFFORD
President and Chief Executive
Officer-elect

GARTNERLEARNING DIVESTITURE

On September 1, 1998, we sold the GartnerLearning division to Harcourt Brace, a unit of Harcourt
General, Inc. GartnerGroup entered the technology-based training market in 1996 to offer
computer-based training to IT and corporate staffs. Our goal, as with all of our businesses, was to
be a leader in the industry. However, we found that our traditional clients were not the typical
buyers of training products and services. We acted quickly and deliberately, and decided that the
best strategy for shareholders and GartnerLearning was to associate with an industry leader that

could take the company to the next level of success.
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CONTINUED GROWTH
Essential to achieving continued growth is the strengthening of client relationships by providing
tailored, cost-effective solutions to their specific IT challenges.

A significant step in that direction is GartnerOne, a powerful, highly flexible, Internet-based
delivery tool that allows our clients to more efficiently access the precise research they need to make
IT decisions. Released in July and met with much acclaim from clients, GartnerOne is a pivotal
new “channel” in a continuing evolution of delivery platforms.

New products and services also continue to drive growth. Notable new products and services
introduced in 1998 include: Executive Edge from GartnerGroup, a magazine jointly published
with Forbes that provides business executives with insight on using IT strategically; numerous
topical Research and Advisory Services focused on areas such as Windows NT, Java and European
monetary union; TCO Manager software, a data-modeling tool used to define a client’s TCO
in distributed computing environments; and Risk Manager: Year 2000, the only software tool
available for assessing the costs and risks attributable to the year 2000 problem and tracking
progress toward compliance.

We added further products and expertise through

acquisitions and investments while increasing
GartnerGroup’s presence in local markets throughout
the world. Acquisitions included: Vision Events !
International (September 1998), an event and conference
organization that brings together leading IT vendors
and distributors with system integrators and retailers;
The Research Board (May 1998), which enhances our

relationships with chief information officers; Interpose,

Inc. (January 1998), which provides the software
development for our new TCO Manager software; AICC
Consultores and Technology

S.A. (May 1998), providing local-language expertise in Argentina and Chile; Informatics MCAB
(November 1997), providing management consulting in Sweden; and Norbert Miconnet Informa-
tion Technology Advisors (January 1998), adding benchmarking to the financial-services market
in France. Equity investments included Jupiter Communications, a research company that special-

izes in consumer online and new media research for business professionals.
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BRAND-NAME EQUITY

Our goals remain the same: To provide IT and business professionals with the best available deci-
sion-making tools; to focus on complete solutions through all phases of the IT decision life cycle;
and to bring clarity to an industry where change and speed are startling.

Our company’s strength — our brand-name equity — is our independent analysis of the issues
that most concern users and vendors of IT. The value of this cannot be overemphasized. Today’s IT
user is faced with a steady stream of decisions that are critically important to the viability of their
enterprises. For the people making these decisions, GartnerGroup’s end-to-end solutions within a
broad landscape of coverage — unmatched in the marketplace — is a unique and valuable support.

To improve constantly on this value, we will continue to invest in our core strengths of
research and distribution. We will continue to hire people of exceptional talent to conduct our
research and respond to the more than 100,000 inquiries we receive from clients each year. We will
continue to develop our sales force to attract new business and build on existing client relation-
ships. And we will continue to enhance our infrastructure, systems, automation and quality to

ensure that GartnerGroup remains the leading authority in the IT world.

BILL CLIFFORD
President and Chief Executive Officer-elect
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The Total Cost of Ownershi P ( TCO ) Distributed Computing
Assessment from GartnerMeasurement helps clients reduce distributed computing
costs while improving efficiency and productivity. A cornerstone of the service is
TCO Manager software, a proprietary data-modeling tool used to define a client's
TCO and to create “what if” scenarios for strategic courses of action.
GartnerOne — our new product architecture — maximizes the benefits
clients derive from GartnerGroup's vast library of advice and research by providing
customized, Web-based solutions. GartnerOne allows us to deliver focused,
in-depth research, broad IT industry overviews or even industry-specific solutions.
It's part of our commitment to provide our clients with the information they need,
when they need it. GartnerOne's flexible new configuration capability enables us
to tailor solutions to meet unigue client needs with targeted information, delivered

via the Internet or our clients’ intranets.
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Our joh at GartnerGroup'is to'continually
clarify our research and analysis so that
they are both'relevant and useful to our
clients, and then find the most efficient
ways to deliver that value at all stages of
the IT decision-making process. These
three new products and services, of'the
many Introduced in 1998, are notable
examples of improved.clarity, analysis
and customization.




BACK
Financial Highlights

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

FORWARD

FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994
Total revenues $641,957 $511,239 $394,672 $295,146 $225,472
Operating contribution ® $160,207 $123,056 $ 88,153 $ 56,446 $ 32,923
Net income @ $ 98,249 $ 73,130 $ 50,534 $ 30,001 $ 16,021
Diluted earnings per share @ $ 093 $ 071 $ 051 $ 0.32 $ 017
SEPTEMBER 30, 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994
Stockholders’ equity $414,938 $269,870 $150,235 $ 74,251 $ 53,887
Total cash and marketable securities $262,294 $188,745 $129,856 $ 95,414 $ 50,654
Contract value @ $596,736 $505,162 $387,228 $303,231 $224,390

M Represents operating income less amortization of intangibles, excluding acquisition-related and nonrecurring charges in fiscal 1998, 1996, 1995 and 1994.
@ Excludes acquisition-related and nonrecurring charges (net of tax) in fiscal 1998, 1996, 1995 and 1994 and loss on sale of GartnerLearning (net of tax) in fiscal 1998.

) Contract value, as measured by the company, represents the annualized value of all advisory and measurement contracts in effect at a given point in time,
without regard to the duration of the contracts outstanding at such time. Prior year contract value has been restated to exclude GartnerLearning contracts.

TOTAL REVENUES
(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS)

Eine)
roe
Ace
F
e e
e

o )

NET INCOME @
(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS)

&

&0

o

A

oo FE W

T

CONTRACT VALUE @
(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS)

>

e

il

G TN )



Corporate Directory

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Manuel A. Fernandez @
Chairman
Gartner Group, Inc.

William O. Grabe @®
General Partner
General Atlantic Partners

Max D. Hopper @
Principal

Max D. Hopper
Associates, Inc.

Retired Chairman
SABRE Technology Group

John P. Imlay, Jr. @
Chairman

Imlay Investments, Inc.

Stephen G. Pagliuca ®®
Managing Director
Information Partners
Capital Fund

Dennis G. Sisco @
Partner
Behrman Capital

Robert E. Weissman @
Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer
IMS Health, Inc.

O Audit committee

@ Compensation committee

@ Corporate Governance

committee

BACK

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

E. Follett Carter
Executive Vice President
and President,
Distribution Services

William T. Clifford
Chief Executive Officer-elect,

President and Chief Operating

Officer

Manuel A. Fernandez
Chairman

Michael D. Fleisher
Executive Vice President
and President,
Emerging Businesses

John E. Halligan
Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer,
Treasurer and Corporate
Secretary

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS
56 Top Gallant Road
Stamford, CT 06904

US.A.

Phone (203) 316-1111

EUROPE

Tamesis, The Glanty
Egham, Surrey

TW20 9AW

United Kingdom

Phone (44) 1784 431611

JAPAN

Aobadai Hills, 6F

7-7, Aobadai, 4-chome
Meguro-ku, Tokyo 153-0042
Japan

Phone (81) 3 3481 3670

ASIA/PACIFIC

80 Alfred Street

Sixth Floor

Milsons Point, NSW 2061
Australia

Phone (61) 2 9941 4860

FORWARD

ANNUAL MEETING
GartnerGroup’s annual meet-
ing for shareholders will be
held at the Intercontinental
Hotel, 111 East 48TH (between
Park Avenue and Lexington),
New York City at 9:00 a.m.
EST on January 28, 1999.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Requests for financial informa-
tion should be sent to:
Gartner Group, Inc.

Investor Relations Dept.

56 Top Gallant Road
Stamford, CT 06904

Phone (203) 316-6537

Fax (203) 316-6878

INTERNET

Additional corporate
information is available on the
World Wide Web:

http://www.gartner.com

STOCK LISTING AND
TRADING SYMBOL

The company’s Class A
Common Stock is listed on the
New York Stock Exchange.
The trading symbol is IT.

LEGAL COUNSEL
Wilson, Sonsini,
Goodrich & Rosati
Palo Alto, CA

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
KPMG Peat Marwick LLP
St. Petersburg, FL

TRANSFER AGENT

First National Bank of Boston
Boston, MA

Phone (617) 575-3120

Entire contents © 1998 Gartner Group, Inc. All rights reserved. Reproduction of this publication in any form without prior written permission is

forbidden. This annual report includes trademarks of Gartner Group, Inc. and other companies.

Design: SVP, Wilton, Connecticut
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K
(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF
[X} THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 1998
OR
[ 1 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from __to __
Commission File Number 0-15144
Gartner Group, Inc.
(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)
Delaware 04-3099750
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification Number)
P.O. Box 10212 06904-2212
56 Top Gallant Road (Zip Code)

Stamford, CT
(Address of principal executive offices)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (203) 316-1111

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
None
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12 (g) of the Act:

Title of Class
Common Stock, Class A, $.0005 Par Value

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such
reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. YES X NO

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein,
and will not be contained, to the best of Registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated
by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. ()

The aggregate market value of the voting stock held by persons other than those who may be deemed affiliates of the
Company, as of November 30, 1998, was approximately $1.2 billion. Shares of Common Stock held by each executive officer
and director and by each person who owns 5% or more of the outstanding Common Stock have been excluded in that such
persons may under certain circumstances be deemed to be affiliates. This determination of executive officer or affiliate status
is not necessarily a conclusive determination for other purposes.

The number of shares outstanding of the Registrant’s capital stock as of November 30, 1998 was 101,647,503 shares
of Common Stock, Class A.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

(1) Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Registrant to be held on January 28, 1999. Certain information
therein is incorporated by reference into Part III hereof.
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PART |

ITEM 1. Business.

GENERAL

Gartner Group, Inc. (“Gartner Group” or the “Company”), founded in 1979, is the world’s leading independent provider of
research and analysis on the computer hardware, software, communications and related information technology (“IT”) industries.
The Company is organized into two business units: GartnerAdvisory and GartnerMeasurement. GartnerAdvisory services en-
compass products which provide research and analysis of significant IT industry trends and developments. GartnerMeasurement
services encompass products which provide comprehensive assessments of cost performance, efficiency and quality for all areas of
IT. The Company enters into annual renewable contracts for advisory and measurement services, and distributes such services
through print and electronic media. The Company’s primary clients are business professional users, purchasers and vendors of
IT products and services. With more than 650 sales professionals in 80 locations, Gartner Group product offerings collectively
provide comprehensive coverage of the I'T industry to over 9,000 client organizations.

MARKET OVERVIEW

The explosion of complex IT products and services creates a growing demand for independent research and analysis.
Furthermore, IT is increasingly important to organizations’ business strategies as the pace of technological change has
accelerated and the ability of an organization to integrate and deploy new information technologies is critical to its
competitiveness. Companies planning their I'T needs must stay abreast of rapid technological developments in a dynamic
market where vendors continually introduce new products with a wide variety of standards and ever-shorter life cycles.
As a result, IT professionals are making substantial financial commitments to I'T systems and products and require
independent, third-party research in order to make purchasing and planning decisions for their organization.

BUSINESS STRATEGY

The Company’s objective is to maintain and enhance its market position as a leading provider of in-depth, value-added,
proprietary research and analysis of the IT industry. The Company has adopted the following strategies to maintain its
market position and expand its core business:

Focus on the IT Market. The Company targets as its clients corporate entities and other large users and vendors of
information technologies. Users of Gartner Group’s products and services include senior decision makers in information
systems organizations and other IT professionals such as purchasing and data center managers. Vendors use market
research data in order to evaluate competitive products and market opportunities.

Maintain Research and Analysis Excellence. Gartner Group’s global network of research analysts is comprised of more
than 800 professionals averaging zen years of industry experience. Clients rely on Gartner Group’s proven research meth-
odology to ensure consistent and comprehensive analysis in all areas of IT. The Company maintains five primary research
centers located in Stamford, CT, Santa Clara, CA, Windsor, England, Brisbane, Australia, Tokyo, Japan and a number of
smaller, satellite research centers throughout the world.

Emphasize New Product Development and Strategic Acquisitions. The Company introduces new research and advisory
products each year. New product ideas evolve from client inquiries, market need and through a multi-functional product
strategy committee. Fiscal 1998 investments and acquisitions include: Interpose (1/98), a provider of total cost of owner-
ship (TCO) measurement and analysis tools and training; The Research Board (5/98), which compiles and provides IT
research on suppliers and new technologies; validated management practices and IT best practices to its membership,
which consist principally of senior IT executives; and Vision Events International (9/98), which produces premiere chan-
nel events that serve to bring information technology vendors, value-added resellers, and system integrators together with
vendors and distributors selling through these channels.

Increase Market Penetration. The Company has made substantial investments developing new markets and establishing
a global network of direct sales personnel, independent sales representatives and distributors. This initiative is on-going
and will continue to evolve with the expansion of the Company’s product and service offerings and delivery options.
Electronic delivery formats include CD-ROM, Lotus Notes, intranets and the Internet.

The Company believes that successful execution of these strategies will enable the Company to expand its client base
in domestic and international markets and to penetrate its client base more effectively through a broader range of prod-
uct offerings.

PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

Advisory and Measurement Services

The Company’s principal products are annually renewable contracts for advisory and measurement services, which encom-
pass products which, on an ongoing basis, highlight industry developments, review new products and technologies, pro-
vide quantitative market research, analyze industry trends within a particular technology or market sector and provide
comparative analysis of the information technology operations of organizations.
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GartnerAdvisory provides qualitative and quantitative research and analysis that clarifies decision-making for IT buy-
ers, users and vendors. GartnerAdvisory consists of GartnerAnalytics, a provider of objective analysis that helps clients
stay ahead of IT trends, directions and vendor strategies; and GartnerMarketDynamics, a provider of worldwide coverage
of research, statistical analysis, growth projections and market share rankings of suppliers and vendors to IT manufactur-
ers and the financial community. GartnerMeasurement provides benchmarking, continuous improvement and best prac-
tices services. The Company currently offers over 323 principal advisory and measurement services products. Each service
is supported by a team of research staff members with substantial experience in the covered segment or topic of the IT
industry. The Company’s staff researches and prepares published reports and responds to telephone and E-mail inquiries
from clients. Clients receive Gartner Group research and analysis on paper and through a number of electronic delivery
formats.

The Company provides a number of other complementary products and services principally:

GartnerConsulting. Consulting services provide customized project consulting on the delivery, deployment and
management of high-tech products and services. Principal practices of consulting services include Technical Architec-
ture, Outsourcing Decision Support, Evolving High Technology Areas, Retainer Consulting Services and Vendor
Consulting.

GarmmerEvents. Industry conferences and events provide comprehensive coverage of IT issues and forecasts of key I'T
industry segments. The conference season begins each year with Symposia, held in the United States, Europe and the
Asia/Pacific rim. These events are held in conjunction with ITxpo™, a high technology learning lab. Additionally,
the Company sponsors other conferences, seminars and briefings. Certain events are offered as part of a continuous
services subscription; however, the majority of events are individually paid for prior to attendance.

The Company measures the volume of its advisory and measurement business based on contract value. The Company
calculates contract value as the annualized value of all advisory and measurement contracts in effect at a given point in
time, without regard to the duration of the contracts outstanding at such time. Historically, the Company has experi-
enced that a substantial portion of client companies have renewed these services for an equal or higher level of total pay-
ments each year, and annual revenues from these services in any fiscal year have closely correlated to contract value at the
beginning of the fiscal year. As of September 30, 1998, approximately 85 percent of the Company’s clients had renewed
one or more of these services in the last twelve months. However, this renewal rate is not necessarily indicative of the
rate of retention of the Company’s revenue base, and contract value at any time may not be indicative of future advisory
and measurement revenues or cash flows if the rate of renewal of advisory and measurement services and products or the
timing of new business were to significantly change during the following twelve months compared to historic patterns.
Deferred revenues, as presented in the Company’s balance sheets, represent unamortized revenues from billed advisory and
measurement services and products plus unamortized revenues of certain other billed services and products not included
in advisory and measurement. Therefore, deferred revenues do not directly correlate to contract value as of the same date
since contract value represents an annualized value of all outstanding advisory and measurement contracts without regard
to the duration of such contracts, and deferred revenues represents unamortized revenue remaining on all billed and
outstanding advisory and measurement contracts including certain other billed services and products not included in
advisory and measurement revenue.

There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to sustain such high renewal rates. Any deterioration
in the Company’s ability to generate significant new business would impact future growth in the Company’s business.
Moreover, a significant portion of the Company’s new business in any given year has historically been generated in
the last portion of the fiscal year. Accordingly, any such situation might not be apparent until late in the Company’s
fiscal year.

COMPETITION

The Company believes that the principal competitive factors in its industry are quality of research and analysis, timely
delivery of information, customer service, the ability to offer products that meet changing market needs for information
and analysis and price. The Company believes it competes favorably with respect to each of these factors.

The Company experiences competition in the market for information products and services from other independent
providers of similar services as well as the internal marketing and planning organizations of the Company’s clients. The
Company also competes indirectly against other information technology providers, including electronic and print media
companies and consulting firms. The Company’s indirect competitors, many of whom have substantially greater financial,
information gathering and marketing resources than the Company, could choose to compete directly against the Com-
pany in the future. In addition, although the Company believes that it has established a significant market presence,
there are few barriers to entry into the Company’s market and new competitors could readily seek to compete against the
Company in one or more market segments addressed by the Company’s advisory and measurement services and products.
Increased competition, direct and indirect, could adversely affect the Company’s operating results through pricing pres-
sure and loss of market share. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to continue to provide the prod-
ucts and services that meet client needs as the I'T market rapidly evolves, or that the Company can otherwise continue to
compete successfully.



BACK TABLE OF CONTENTS FORWARD

EMPLOYEES

As of September 30, 1998, the Company employed 2,972 persons. Of the 2,972 employees, 915 are located at the Com-
pany’s headquarters in the Stamford, CT area, 1,132 are located at other domestic facilities and 925 are located outside of
the United States. None of the Company’s employees are represented by a collective bargaining arrangement. The Com-
pany has experienced no work stoppages and considers its relations with employees to be favorable.

The Company’s future success will depend in large measure upon the continued contributions of its senior manage-
ment team, professional analysts, and experienced sales personnel. Accordingly, future operating results will be largely
dependent upon the Company’s ability to retain the services of these individuals and to attract additional qualified per-
sonnel. The Company experiences intense competition for professional personnel with, among others, producers of IT
products, management consulting firms and financial services companies. Many of these firms have substantially greater
financial resources than the Company to attract and compensate qualified personnel. The loss of the services of key man-
agement and professional personnel could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business.

ITEM 2. Properties.

The Company’s headquarters are located in approximately 244,000 square feet of leased office space in five buildings
located in Stamford, CT. These facilities accommodate research and analysis, marketing, sales, client support, production
and corporate administration. The leases on these facilities expire in 2010. The Company also leases office space in 40
domestic and 38 international locations to support its research and analysis, domestic and international sales efforts and
other functions. The Company believes its existing facilities and expansion options are adequate for its current needs and
that additional facilities are available for lease to meet future needs.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings.

The Company is involved in legal proceedings and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. The Company
believes the outcome of all current proceedings, claims and litigation will not have a material effect on the Company’s
financial position or results of operations when resolved in a future period.

ITEM 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.
None.

PART 11

ITEM 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters.

As of November 30, 1998, there were approximately 271 holders of record of the Company’s Class A Common Stock.
Since September 15, 1998, the Company’s Class A Common Stock has been listed for trading in the New York Stock
Exchange under the symbol “IT”.

As of September 30, 1998, the Company has not paid any cash dividends on its common stock. On November 12,
1998, the Company’s Board of Directors approved an agreement in principle with IMS Health Inc. (“IMS Health”) which
owns 47.6 million or 47% of the Company’s Class A Common Stock to undertake a recapitalization of the Company and
facilitate a tax-free spin-off by IMS Health of its equity position in Gartner Group Inc. to its shareholders. As part of the
recapitalization, IMS Health will exchange 40.7 million shares of Class A Common Stock for an equal number of shares
of new Class B Common Stock of the Company prior to the spin-off. This new class of common stock will be entitled to
elect at least 80% of the Company’s Board of Directors, but will otherwise be substantially identical to existing Class A
Common Stock. The Class B Common Stock will be distributed to IMS Health shareholders in a tax-free distribution.
IMS Health will continue to hold 6.9 million shares of Class A Common Stock after the spin-off. It is the intention of
IMS Health to sell these shares within one year of the spin-off, subject to certain conditions. In addition, the Company
agreed that it would pay a one-time special cash dividend of $300.0 million to its shareholders of record immediately
prior to the IMS Health spin-off. Further, the Company also agreed that it would repurchase $300.0 million of its Class
A Common Stock on the open market after the spin-off. The exchange, spin-off and special cash dividend are expected to
be completed in the third quarter of fiscal 1999, subject to approval by the IRS of the tax-free status of the spin-off and
approval of the recapitalization plan by the non-IMS Health shareholders of the Company. The share repurchase program
will commence after the spin-off and is expected to be completed within one year.

On September 30, 1998, the Company acquired all the assets and assumed the liabilities of Mentis Corporation for
$1.7 million in cash and 28,236 shares of Class A Common Stock of the Company which had an approximate fair mar-
ket value of $0.7 million.

The quarterly market price information is included in Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations—Common Stock Information.
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ITEM 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data.

FORWARD

The table below summarizes recent financial information for the Company. For further information, refer to the Company’s

Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto presented under Part II, Item 8 of this form 10K.

GARTNER GROUP, INC.
SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA
(IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA:
Revenues:
Advisory and measurement $494,701  $396,219  $306,542  $235,.867  $177,821
Learning 18,076 21,314 12,219 1,301 —
Other, principally consulting and conferences 129,180 93,706 75,911 57,978 47,651
Total revenues 641,957 511,239 394,672 295,146 225,472
Total costs and expenses 498,420 394,626 345,232 251,406 181,522
Operating Income 143,537 116,613 49,440 43,740 43 950
Minority Interest — — 25 98 —
Loss on sale of GartnerLearning (1,973) — — — —
Interest income, net 9,557 7,260 3,665 2,271 2)
Income before income taxes 151,121 123,873 53,130 46,109 43,948
Provision for income taxes 62,774 50,743 36,692 20,948 19,891
Net Income $ 88,347 $ 73,130 $ 16,438 ¢ 25,161 $ 24,057
NET INCOME PER COMMON SHARE:
Basic $ 0.88 $ 0.77 $ 0.18 $ 0.29 $ 0.29
Diluted $ 0.84 $ 0.71 $ 0.17 $ 0.26 $ 0.25
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET DATA:
Cash and cash equivalents, and marketable securities $218,684  $171,054  $126,809 $ 95414 $ 52,855
Fees receivable, net 239,243 205,760 143,762 112,159 102,509
Other current assets 53,152 48,794 39,579 28,655 22,940
Total curvent assets 511,079 425,608 310,150 236,228 178,304
Intangibles and other assets 321,792 219,704 133,958 96,678 87,619
Total assets $832,871 $645,312 $444.108  $332,906  $265,923
Current portion of long-term obligations — — — $ 6,725 $ 5,877
Deferred revenues $288,013  $254,071  $198,952 161,001 131,031
Other current liabilities 126,822 118,112 92,456 87,483 62,829
Total curvent liabilities 414,835 372,183 291,408 255,209 199,737
Long-term obligations, excluding current maturities — — — — 6,419
Long-term deferred revenues 3,098 3,259 2,465 3 446 5,880
Stockholders’ equity 414,938 269,870 150,235 74,251 53,887
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $832,871 $645,312 $444.108  $332,906  $265,923
Seprember 30, 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994
OTHER DATA:
Contract value"” $596,736  $505,162  $387,228  $303,231  $224,390
Client organizations'” 9,144 8,124 7,241 5,500 4,460

" Contract value, as measured by the Company, represents the annualized value of all advisory and measurement con-

tracts in effect at a given point in time, without regard to the duration of the contracts outstanding at such time.

Prior year contract value has been restated to exclude GartnerLearning contracts.

® Information provided for fiscal 1994 and 1995 does not include Dataquest, Inc. Information provided for 1997 and

1998 excludes Datapro. Prior year client organizations have been restated to exclude GartnerLearning client

organizations.
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ITEM 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

OVERVIEW

Total revenues for Gartner Group Inc. (“the Company”) for fiscal 1998 were $642.0 million, up 26% from $511.2
million for fiscal 1997. Current year revenue growth consisted of a 25% increase in advisory (excluding consulting)

and measurement services, a 15% decrease in learning revenue and a 38% increase in other revenue, principally from
consulting services and conferences. Advisory and measurement services encompass products which, on an ongoing basis,
highlight industry developments, review new products and technologies, provide quantitative market research, analyze
industry trends within a particular technology or market sector and provide comparative analysis of the information tech-
nology operations of organizations. The Company enters into annually renewable contracts for advisory and measurement
services. Revenues from advisory and measurement services and learning are recognized as products and services are deliv-
ered and as the Company’s obligation to the client is completed over the contract period. Revenue increases in advisory
and measurement services and other revenue came from the combined successes of numerous new product introductions
and delivery platforms, sales penetration into new and existing clients and incremental revenue from acquisitions. The
decrease in learning revenue is primarily the result of the sale of GartnerLearning during the fourth quarter of fiscal 1998.

Contract value increased 18% to approximately $596.7 million at September 30, 1998 versus the same date last year
(when excluding contract value related to GartnerLearning). The Company believes that contract value, which is calcu-
lated as the annualized value of all advisory and measurement contracts in effect at a given point in time, without regard
to the duration of such contracts outstanding at such time, is a significant measure of the Company’s volume of business.
Historically, the Company has experienced that a substantial portion of client companies have renewed these services for
an equal or higher level of total payments each year, and, to date, annual revenues from these services in any fiscal year
have approximated contract value at the beginning of the fiscal year. As of September 30, 1998, approximately 85% of
the Company’s clients have renewed one or more of these services in the last twelve months. However, this renewal rate
is not necessarily indicative of the rate of retention of the Company’s revenue base, and contract value at any time may
not be indicative of future advisory and measurement revenues or cash flows if the rate of renewal of advisory and mea-
surement services or the timing of new business were to significantly change during the following twelve months com-
pared to historic patterns. Total deferred revenues of $291.1 million and $257.3 million as of September 30, 1998 and
1997, respectively, as presented in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets, represent unamortized revenues from
billed advisory and measurement (and including learning until GartnerLearning was sold) plus unamortized revenues of
certain other billed products and services not included in advisory and measurement services. Deferred revenues do not
directly correlate to contract value as of the same date since contract value represents an annualized value of all outstand-
ing contracts without regard to the duration of such contracts, and deferred revenue represents unamortized revenue
remaining on all outstanding and billed contracts including advisory and measurement services and certain other prod-
ucts and services not included in advisory and measurement revenue. Backlog at September 30, 1998 was approximately
$122.0 million and represents future revenues that will be recognized on multi-year and early renewed advisory and mea-
surement contracts and in-process consulting engagements. Such revenues will be recognized when services and products
are delivered. Backlog is not included in deferred revenues or contract value.

Historically, the Company has realized significant renewals and growth in contract value at the end of quarters. The
fourth quarter of the fiscal year typically is the fastest growth quarter for contract value and the first quarter of the fiscal
year typically represents the slowest growth quarter as it is the quarter in which the largest amount of contact renewals
are due. As a result of the quarterly trends in contract value and overall business volume, fees receivable, deferred rev-
enues, deferred commissions and commissions payable reflect this activity and typically show substantial increases at
quarter end, particularly at fiscal year end. All contracts are billable upon signing, absent special terms granted on a
limited basis from time to time. All contracts are non-cancelable and non-refundable, except for government contracts
which have a 30-day cancellation clause, but have not produced material cancellations to date. The Company’s policy is
to record at the time of signing of an advisory and measurement contract the entire amount of the contract billable as
deferred revenue and fees receivable. The Company also records the related commission obligation upon the signing of
the contract and amortizes the corresponding deferred commission expense over the contract period in which the related
advisory and measurement revenues are earned and amortized to income.

Historically, advisory and measurement revenues have increased in the first quarter of the ensuing fiscal year over the
immediately preceding quarter primarily due to the amount of increase in contract value at the end of the prior fiscal
year. Other revenues have increased similarly due to annual conferences and exhibition events held in the first quarter.
Additionally, operating income margin (operating income as a percentage of total revenues) typically improves in the first
quarter of the fiscal year versus the immediately preceding quarter. The operating income margin improvement in the
first quarter of the fiscal year is due in part by the increase in advisory and measurement revenue upon which the Com-
pany is able to further leverage its selling, general and administrative expenses, plus operating income generated from
the first quarter Symposium and ITxpo exhibition events. Operating income margin generally is not as high in remain-
ing quarters, especially the third and fourth quarters of the fiscal year compared to the first quarter of the fiscal year as
the operating income margins from the ITxpo conferences in the first fiscal quarter are higher than on conferences held
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later in the fiscal year. Additionally, the Company historically does not increase its level of spending until after the first
quarter of the fiscal year, when the rate of growth in contract value becomes known. As a result, growth in operating
expenses has typically lagged behind growth in revenues within a given year, and operating income margin has generally
been higher in the earlier quarters of the fiscal year.

Operating income rose 23% to $143.5 million in fiscal 1998, or 22% of total revenues, from $116.6 million, or
23% of total revenues in fiscal 1997. During fiscal 1998, the Company recorded two one-time costs that reduced
reported operating income. The first was an acquisition-related charge of $4.5 million from the write-off of purchased
in-process research and development costs in connection with the acquisition of Interpose Inc. The second was nonrecur-
ring charges of $2.8 million relating to costs associated with the relocation of certain accounting and order processing
functions to new facilities. Excluding these charges, operating income for fiscal 1998 increased 29% to $150.8 million,
compared to the prior year and was 23% of total revenue for fiscal 1998. Operating income, excluding the charges, has
increased as a result of solid revenue growth coupled with controlled spending that has allowed the Company to gain
economies of scale through the leveraging of its resources (additional revenues have been generated using essentially the
same resources). The Company’s continued focus on margin improvement has favorably impacted operating results.
Diluted net income per common share was $0.84 in fiscal 1998 as compared to last fiscal year’s $0.71 per common share.
Excluding acquisition-related and nonrecurring charges and the loss on sale of GartnerLearning, diluted net income per
common share was $0.93, a 31% increase compared to fiscal 1997. The Company’s strong cash generation also continued
in fiscal 1998. The Company had $262.3 million in total cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities at September
30, 1998, up $73.5 million from $188.7 million at September 30, 1997.

ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS
The following table sets forth certain results of operations as a percentage of revenues:

FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 1998 1997 1996

Percent of revenues:

Revenues:
Advisory and measurement 77% 78% 78%
Learning 3 4 3
Other, principally consulting and conferences 20 18 19
Total revenues 100 100 100
Costs and expenses:
Cost of services and product development 39 40 39
Selling, general and administrative 34 34 37
Acquisition-related charges 1 — 9
Nonrecurring charges 0 — —
Depreciation 3 2 2
Amortization of intangibles 1 1 1
Total costs and expenses 78 77 88
Operating income 22 23 12
Minority interest — — 0
Loss on sale of GartnerLearning 0 — —
Interest income, net 2 1 1
Income before income taxes 24 24 13
Provision for income taxes 10 10 9
Net income 14% 14% 4%

FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 1998
VERSUS FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 1997

Total revenues increased 26% to $642.0 million in fiscal 1998 as compared to $511.2 million in fiscal 1997. Revenues
from advisory (excluding consulting) and measurement services increased 25% in fiscal 1998 to $494.7 million compared
to $396.2 million in fiscal 1997 and comprised approximately 77% and 78% of total revenues in fiscal 1998 and 1997,
respectively. Revenue from the learning business decreased 15% in fiscal 1998 to $18.1 compared to $21.3 in fiscal 1997
and comprised approximately 3% of revenues in fiscal 1998 versus 4% in fiscal 1997. The increase in revenues from
advisory and measurement services reflects the continued client acceptance of new products and services, sales penetration
into new and existing clients and incremental revenue from acquisitions completed in fiscal 1998 and fiscal 1997
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(primarily Datapro Information Services, Inc.). The decrease in learning revenue is primarily the result of the sale of
GartnerLearning in the fourth quarter of fiscal 1998.

Other revenues, consisting principally of revenues from consulting services and conferences increased 38% to $129.2
million in fiscal 1998 as compared to $93.7 million in the prior year. The increase is primarily attributable to the Com-
pany’s Symposia conferences and ITxpo exhibition events held annually during the first quarter of the fiscal year, revenue
from new events and acquired businesses as well as increased consulting revenues.

The rate of growth in advisory and measurement revenues has continued to be strong in two of the three defined
geographic market areas of the Company: the United States and Europe. Revenues from sales to United States clients
increased 21% to $403.0 million in fiscal 1998 from $333.0 million in fiscal 1997. Revenues from sales to European
clients increased 51% to $183.8 million in fiscal 1998 from $122.0 million in fiscal 1997. Sales to other international
clients, primarily in the Asian and South American markets areas, have decreased slightly by 2% to $55.2 million in
fiscal 1998 from $56.2 million in fiscal 1997. This decrease was caused primarily by unfavorable exchange rate impact
and client concerns over the financial crisis in Asia. The Company’s sales strategy continues to be to extend the Com-
pany’s sales channels to clients with revenues ranging from $150 million to $2 billion, in addition to the Company’s
historic focus on larger customers. In Europe and the other international markets, additional investment in direct sales
personnel and distributor relationships has also contributed to overall revenue growth. The Company intends to continue
its expansion of operations outside of the United States in fiscal 1999.

Operating income increased 23% to $143.5 million in fiscal 1998 compared to $116.6 million in fiscal 1997.
Excluding acquisition-related and nonrecurring charges, operating income in fiscal 1998 increased 29%. The United
States and Europe geographic areas experienced growth in operating income in fiscal 1998, with an 18% and 44%
increase, respectively. The other international geographic areas experienced a slight decline in operating income in fiscal
1998 of 3%. Operating income, as a percentage of total revenues was 23% for fiscal 1998 and 1997, after excluding the
above mentioned charges. Operating income has increased as a result of solid revenue growth coupled with controlled
spending that has allowed the Company to gain economies of scale through the leveraging of its resources (additional
revenues have been generated using essentially the same resources). The Company’s continued focus on margin improve-
ment has favorably impacted operating results.

Costs and expenses, excluding acquisition-related and nonrecurring charges, increased to $491.1 million in fiscal
1998 from $394.6 million in fiscal 1997 and was 77% of total revenues in both fiscal years. Cost of services and product
development expenses were $247.9 million and $202.8 million for fiscal 1998 and 1997, respectively. This increase in
expenses over the prior fiscal year reflects the need to provide additional support to the growing client base, costs associ-
ated with acquired business and continued product development costs. The decrease in cost of services and product devel-
opment expenses, as a percentage of total revenues is primarily attributable to improved gross margins on conferences,
lower delivery cost per dollar of revenue due to increased electronic delivery of products, as well as controlled discretion-
ary spending and reduced variable costs linked to financial performance. Selling, general and administrative expenses,
which were $215.9 million and $173.6 million for fiscal 1998 and 1997, respectively, increased as a result of the Com-
pany’s continuing expansion of worldwide distribution channels and resulting commissions earned on the revenue gener-
ated. This increase is primarily the result of continued expansion of worldwide distribution channels and the impact of
acquisitions. Although the Company has added general and administrative resources to support the growing revenue
base, selling, general and administrative expenses has remained consistent at 34% of total revenues for fiscal 1998 and
1997, respectively.

During fiscal 1998, the Company incurred one-time charges that were reflected in costs and expenses. In February
1998, the Company acquired the net assets of Interpose Inc. (“Interpose”), a provider of total cost of ownership measure-
ment and analysis tools and training. In connection with the acquisition, the Company recorded an acquisition-related
charge of $6.3 million for the write-off of purchased in-process research and development costs. On December 10, 1998,
the Company revised the amount of expensed purchased in-process research and development costs from $6.3 million to
$4.5 million. The change was in response to recently developed guidance from the Securities and Exchange Commission.
In the second quarter of fiscal 1998, the Company recorded nonrecurring charges, primarily consisting of relocation and
severance costs, totaling approximately $2.8 million related to the Company’s relocation of certain accounting and order
processing operations from Stamford, Connecticut to a new financial services center in Ft. Myers, Florida.

Depreciation expense increased to $17.9 million in fiscal 1998 from $11.8 million in fiscal 1997, primarily due to
capital spending required to support business growth. Additionally, amortization of intangibles increased by $2.9 million
in fiscal 1998 as compared to fiscal 1997, reflecting primarily goodwill associated with fiscal 1998 and 1997 acquisitions.

On September 1, 1998, the Company sold GartnerLearning, a division of the Company that provided technology
based training and services to Netg Inc. (“Netg”), a subsidiary of Harcourt Brace & Company, for $5.0 million in cash
and an 8% equity interest in Netg. In addition, the Company received a put option which allows the Company to sell
its 8% interest to an affiliate of Harcourt Brace & Company for $48.0 million in cash. This put option may be exercised
for two years beginning on September 1, 2002 if certain conditions are met. The Company’s 8% interest in Netg has an
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independently appraised value of $42.5 million. Including related transaction costs of $3.8 million, the pre-tax loss on
sale of GartnerLearning was approximately $2.0 million.

Interest income, net increased to $9.6 million in fiscal 1998, versus $7.3 million for fiscal 1997. This improvement
resulted from interest income accumulating on higher balances of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities
($262.3 million at September 30, 1998, versus $188.7 million at September 30, 1997).

Provision for income taxes increased by 24% or $12.0 million to $62.8 million in fiscal 1998, from $50.7 million
in fiscal 1997. The effective tax rate was 42% and 41% for fiscal 1998 and 1997, respectively. As a result of the sale of
GartnerLearning, additional taxes of $4.2 million were incurred, primarily due to the reversal of non-deductible good-
will. Excluding these additional taxes, the Company’s effective rate for fiscal 1998 was 39%, a decrease of two percentage
points from fiscal 1997. This decrease is due primarily to on-going tax planning initiatives. A more detailed analysis of
the changes in the provision for income taxes is provided in Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 1997
VERSUS FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 1996

Total revenues increased 30% to $511.2 million in fiscal 1997 as compared to $394.7 million in fiscal 1996. Revenues
from advisory (excluding consulting) and measurement services increased 29% in fiscal 1997 to $396.2 million compared
to $306.5 million in fiscal 1996 and comprised approximately 78% of total revenues in both fiscal 1997 and fiscal 1996.
Revenue from learning increased 74% in fiscal 1997 to $21.3 compared to $12.2 in fiscal 1996 and comprised approxi-
mately 4% of revenues in fiscal 1997 versus 3% in fiscal 1996. The increase in revenues from advisory measurement and
learning services reflects primarily strong market acceptance of new services introduced in 1996 and the first half of
1997, volume increases as a result of increased geographic and client penetration, continuation of a volume pricing strat-
egy that provides more value for the same dollars each year through the expansion of electronic distribution within client
companies and incremental revenues from acquisitions completed in fiscal 1997 and fiscal 1996 (primarily Datapro Infor-
mation Services, Inc, (“Datapro”) and J3 Learning, Inc.).

Other revenues, consisting principally of revenues from conferences and consulting services, increased 23% to $93.7
million in fiscal 1997 as compared to $75.9 million in the prior year. The increase is primarily attributable to additional
conferences held in fiscal 1997, increased revenue versus fiscal 1996 for certain conferences and expansion of consulting
services to new geographic regions.

The rate of growth in advisory, measurement and learning revenues has continued to be strong in the three defined
geographic market areas of the Company: the United States, Europe and Other International. Revenues from sales to
United States clients increased 31% to $333.0 million in fiscal 1997 from $253.5 million in fiscal 1996. Revenues from
sales to European clients increased 24% to $122.0 million in fiscal 1997 from $98.8 million in fiscal 1996, and revenues
from sales to Other International clients increased 33% to $56.2 million in fiscal 1997 from $42.4 million in fiscal
1996. These increases reflect primarily the continued results of the Company’s sales strategy to extend the Company’s
sales channels to clients with revenues ranging from $500 million to $2 billion, in addition to the Company’s historic
focus on larger customers. In Europe and Other International markets, additional investment in direct sales personnel and
distributor relationships has also contributed to revenue growth. The Company intends to continue its expansion of
operations outside of the United States.

Operating income was $116.6 million in fiscal 1997 compared to $49.4 million in fiscal 1996. Excluding $34.9
million in acquisition-related charges (consisting primarily of a $32.2 million write-off of purchased in-process research
and development costs in connection with the acquisition of J3 Learning Corporation) operating income in fiscal 1997
increased 38%. All three geographic areas experienced growth in operating income in fiscal 1997, with a 139%, 130%
and 138% increase in the United States, Europe and Other International geographic areas, respectively. Operating
income, as a percentage of total, increased to 23% of revenues for fiscal 1997 versus 21% for fiscal 1996, revenues, after
excluding the above mentioned charges. Operating income has increased as a result of solid revenue growth coupled with
controlled spending that has allowed the Company to gain economies of scale through the leveraging of its resources
(additional revenues have been generated using essentially the same resources). The Company’s continued focus on margin
improvement has favorably impacted operating results.

While costs and expenses, excluding acquisition-related charges, increased to $394.6 million in fiscal 1997 from
$310.3 million in fiscal 1996, such costs decreased to 77% of total revenues from 79% in fiscal 1996. Cost of services
and product development expenses were $202.8 million and $153.0 million for fiscal 1997 and 1996, respectively. This
increase in expenses over the prior fiscal year reflects the need to provide additional support to the growing client base,
including investment in strategic areas such as electronic and Internet distribution, costs associated with the imple-
mentation of the Company’s new client inquiry process (QuickPath) and product development costs (particularly for
technology-based training products). The decrease in cost of services and product development expenses, as a percentage
of total revenues is primarily attributable to improved gross margins on conferences as compared to the prior year and
lower delivery cost per dollar of revenue generated due to increased electronic delivery of services and products. Selling,
general and administrative expenses, which were $173.6 million and $144.5 million for fiscal 1997 and 1996, respec-
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tively, increased as a result of the Company’s continuing expansion of worldwide distribution channels and resulting
commissions earned on the revenue generated. The increase in commission expense was offset partially by the elimination
and/or reduction of redundant general and administrative expenses, including personnel reductions and facility rational-
ization relating to acquisitions. Although the Company has added general and administrative resources to support the
growing revenue base, it has benefited from economies of scale and leveraging of its general and administrative staff and
facilities. Consequently, selling, general and administrative expenses were 34% of total revenues for fiscal 1997 as com-
pared to 37% for fiscal 1996.

Acquisition-related charges of $34.9 million in fiscal 1996 for the acquisitions of Dataquest, Inc. (“Dataquest”) and
J3 were not recurring in fiscal 1997. Depreciation expense increased to $11.8 million in fiscal 1997 from $9.1 million in
fiscal 1996, primarily due to capital spending required to support business growth. Additionally, amortization of intan-
gibles increased by $2.6 million in fiscal 1997 as compared to fiscal 1996, reflecting primarily goodwill associated with
fiscal 1996 and 1997 acquisitions.

Interest income, net increased to $7.3 million in fiscal 1997, versus $3.7 million for fiscal 1996. This improvement
resulted from interest income accumulating on the Company’s cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities ($188.7
million at September 30, 1997, versus $129.9 million at September 30, 1996), changes in the mix of investments to
higher yielding investments and from reduced interest expense after remaining debt related to fiscal 1993 and 1994
acquisitions was paid during fiscal 1996. Interest rates were not a significant factor in the increase in interest income
earned in fiscal 1997 versus fiscal 1996.

Provision for income taxes increased by $14.0 million to $50.7 million in fiscal 1997, up from $36.7 million in
fiscal 1996. The effective rate was 41% and 69% for fiscal 1997 and 1996, respectively. Absent the non-deductible
write-off for purchased in-process research and development costs, the effective tax rate for fiscal 1996 was 43%. The
decrease in the effective tax rate from fiscal 1996, excluding acquisition-related charges, is due to on-going tax planning
initiatives. A more detailed analysis of the changes in the provision for income taxes is provided in Note 10 of the Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements.

PROPOSED RECAPITALIZATION, SPECIAL CASH DIVIDEND AND SHARE REPURCHASE

On November 12, 1998, the Company’s Board of Directors approved an agreement in principle with IMS Health Inc.
(“IMS Health”) which owns 47.6 million or 47% of the Company’s Class A Common Stock to undertake a recapitaliza-
tion of the Company and facilitate a tax-free spin-off by IMS Health of its equity position in Gartner Group Inc. to its
shareholders. As part of the recapitalization, IMS Health will exchange 40.7 million shares of Class A Common Stock for
an equal number of shares of new Class B Common Stock of the Company prior to the spin-off. This new class of com-
mon stock will be entitled to elect at least 80% of the Company’s Board of Directors, but will otherwise be substantially
identical to existing Class A Common Stock. The Class B Common Stock will be distributed to IMS Health shareholders
in a tax-free distribution. IMS Health will continue to hold 6.9 million shares of Class A Common Stock after the spin-
off. It is the intention of IMS Health to sell these shares within one year of the spin-off, subject to certain conditions. In
addition, the Company agreed that it would pay a one-time special cash dividend of $300.0 million to its shareholders of
record immediately prior to the IMS Health spin-off. Further, the Company also agreed that it would repurchase $300.0
million of its Class A Common Stock on the open market after the spin-off. The exchange, spin-off and special cash divi-
dend are expected to be completed in the third quarter of fiscal 1999, subject to approval by the IRS of the tax-free sta-
tus of the spin-off and approval of the recapitalization plan by the non-IMS Health shareholders of the Company. The
share repurchase program will commence after the spin-off and is expected to be completed within one year.

FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE PERFORMANCE

The Company’s future operating results will depend upon the Company’s ability to continue to compete successfully in
the market for information products and services. The Company faces competition from a significant number of indepen-
dent providers of similar services, as well as the internal marketing and planning organizations of the Company’s clients.
The Company also competes indirectly against other information providers, including electronic and print media compa-
nies and consulting firms. In addition, there are limited barriers to entry into the Company’s market and additional new
competitors could readily emerge. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to continue to provide the
products and services that meet client needs as the Information Technology (“IT”) market rapidly evolves, or that the
Company can otherwise continue to compete successfully. In this regard, the Company’s ability to compete is largely
dependent upon the quality of its staff of IT analysts. Competition for qualified analysts is intense. There can be no
assurance that the Company will be able to hire additional qualified IT analysts as may be required to support the evolv-
ing needs of customers or any growth in the Company’s business. Any failure to maintain a premier staff of IT analysts
could adversely affect the quality of the Company’s products and services, and therefore its future business and operating
results. Additionally, there may be increased business risk as the Company expands product and service offerings to
smaller domestic companies.

10
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The Company’s operating results are subject to the risks inherent in international sales, including changes in market
demand as a result of exchange rate fluctuations, tariffs and other barriers, challenges in staffing and managing foreign
sales operations, and higher levels of taxation on foreign income than domestic income. Further expansion would also
require additional management attention and financial resources.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Company has primarily financed its operations to date through cash provided by operating activities. The combina-
tion of revenue growth and operating margin improvements have contributed to increases in cash provided by operating
activities in fiscal 1998, 1997 and 1996. In addition, cash flow has been enhanced by the Company’s continuing manage-
ment of working capital requirements to support increased sales volumes from growth in the pre-existing businesses and
growth due to acquisitions.

Cash provided by operating activities during fiscal 1998 was $97.8 million, compared to $87.2 million in the prior
fiscal year, reflecting primarily the impact of increased operating income and changes in balance sheet accounts, particu-
larly fees receivable, deferred revenues, deferred commissions and prepaid and other current assets.

Cash used for investing activities totaled $145.2 million for fiscal 1998, compared to $84.3 million for fiscal 1997.
During fiscal 1998, the Company used $47.5 million in cash for acquisitions, primarily for the purchase of Vision Events
International Inc. for $20.5 million, Interpose for $7.5 million and the Research Board Inc. for $6.4 million. Addition-
ally, the Company used $15.0 million for investments in unconsolidated businesses. The Company also used $24.3 mil-
lion for the purchase of capital assets and had net purchases of marketable securities for $58.2 million.

Cash provided by financing activities totaled $62.9 million in fiscal 1998, compared to $44.6 million for fiscal
1997. The increase in fiscal 1998 is driven primarily by a $47.3 million credit to additional paid-in capital for tax ben-
efits received from stock transactions with employees and $35.7 million from the issuance of common stock upon the
exercise of employee stock options. The tax benefit of stock transactions with employees is due to a reduction in the cor-
porate income tax liability based on an imputed compensation deduction equal to employees’ gain upon the exercise of
stock options at an exercise price below fair market. As additional stock options have become exercisable each fiscal year
under the Company’s stock option plans, the volumes of option exercises have increased, thereby resulting in significant
tax benefits being realized in both fiscal 1998 and 1997. These increases were partially offset by a net cash settlement of
$12.0 million on a forward purchase agreement on the Company’s common stock and $13.9 million for the purchase of
treasury stock.

The effect of exchange rates reduced cash and cash equivalents by $0.2 million for the year ended September 30,
1998, and was due to the strengthening of the U.S. dollar versus certain foreign currencies. In fiscal 1997 the effect of
exchange rates reduced cash and cash equivalents by $1.8 million. At September 30, 1998, cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities totaled $262.3 million. In addition, the Company has available two unsecured credit lines with The
Bank of New York and Chase Manhattan Bank for $5.0 million and $25.0 million, respectively. These lines may be can-
celled by the banks at any time without prior notice or penalty. Additionally, the Company issues letters of credit in the
ordinary course of business. The Company had outstanding letters of credit with Chase Manhattan Bank of $4.1 million
and $2.0 million with The Bank of New York at September 30, 1998. The Company believes that its current cash bal-
ances and maturing marketable debt securities, together with cash anticipated to be provided by operating activities and
borrowings available under the existing lines of credit, will be sufficient for the expected short-term cash needs of the
Company, including possible acquisitions. Additionally as mentioned above, the Company is seeking a recapitalization
that when completed would require a significant amount of cash to fund the special dividend and the repurchase of com-
mon shares. The Company believes that current cash balances and maturing marketable debt securities, expected cash to
be generated from operations and the Company’s ability to borrow beyond the current lines of credit, will be sufficient to
provide the liquidity required. The Company currently has no other material capital commitments.

SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT UNDER THE PRIVATE SECURITIES LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995
Portions of the foregoing discussion include descriptions of the Company’s expectations regarding future trends affecting
its business. The forward-looking statements made in this annual report, as well as all other forward-looking statements
or information provided by the Company or its employees, whether written or oral, are made in reliance upon the safe
harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements and future results
are subject to, and should be considered in light of risks, uncertainties and other factors which may affect future resules
including, but not limited to: competition, rapid changing technology, regulatory requirements and uncertainties of
international trade as set forth under “Factors that May Affect Future Performance”.

COMMON STOCK INFORMATION

Since September 15, 1998 the Company’s Class A Common Stock has been listed for trading on the New York Stock
Exchange under the symbol “IT”. Prior to September 15, 1998, it was listed on the Nasdaq National Market. The Com-
pany effected two-for-one stock splits by means of stock dividends on March 29, 1996, June 28, 1995 and August 26,
1994. All earnings per share and share data presented herein have been restated retroactively to reflect such splits. As of
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September 30, 1997, the Company recorded the conversion of all Class B Common Stock into Class A Common Stock on
a one for one basis, pursuant to a provision of the Articles of Incorporation which required conversion when the Class B
Common Stockholder’s voting equity fell below a certain ownership percentage after considering all exercisable options
and warrants outstanding. During fiscal 1998, the Company’s Class A Common Stock traded within a range of daily
closing prices of $21.94 to $40.81 per share.

Quarterly Common Stock Prices

FISCAL YEAR 1998 FISCAL YEAR 1997
HIGH LOW HIGH LOW
First Quarter ended December 31 $37.25 $26.75 $38.88 $29.75
Second Quarter ended March 31 $40.81 $33.38 $42.06 $20.38
Third Quarter ended June 30 $35.19 $30.44 $35.94 $20.63
Fourth Quarter ended September 30 $35.19 $20.88 $36.63 $25.50

As of September 30, 1998, the Company has not paid any cash dividends on its common stock. As discussed above, the
agreement in principal to recapitalize the Company includes a special one-time cash dividend of $300.0 million which
will be paid to shareholders of record immediately prior to the planned spin-off by IMS Health. Except for this proposed
special one-time cash dividend, which is subject to certain IRS and shareholder approvals, the Company currently intends
to retain future earnings for use in its business and does not anticipate that any additional cash dividends will be
declared or paid on the common stock in the foreseeable future.

YEAR 2000 ISSUES

The Year 2000 problem results from the fact that many technology systems have been designed using only a two-digit
representation of the year portion of the date. This has the potential to cause errors or failures in those systems that
depend on correct interpretation of the year, but cannot necessarily correctly interpret “00” as the year “2000”. There are
two other issues that are generally considered part of the Year 2000 problem: a) the fact that the year 2000 is a special
case leap year and b) certain dates over the next few years, such as 9/9/99, could be misinterpreted as codes with special
meanings, such as 9999 means an invalid record (This is a simple description of the most common cause of the Year
2000 problem. There are many complete descriptions, with examples, such as the Year 2000 Guide for Practitioners.)
The problem can manifest itself before, on or after January 1, 2000. The Year 2000 problem has often been described as
a computer problem, but there is a growing recognition that the issue extends far beyond conventional computers and
affects virtually every facet of a modern company’s operations and interfaces with third parties.

The Company’s Year 2000 efforts are organized around understanding and addressing the business-critical functions
in each of the six major areas that could potentially be affected by Year 2000 issues (business-critical functions are
defined as those whose failure or significant disruption would have a material adverse impact on the Company’s business,
financial condition or results of operations or involve a safety risk to employees or customers):

Supply Chain—suppliers, customers, financial affiliates, and government agencies

Products & Services—goods created by the Company for its customers

Information Technology (“IT”) Applications—in-house and vendor business computer programs

IT Infrastructure—computers, communications and call center systems

Non-IT Process Systems—systems used to create and deliver the Company’s products & services

Non-IT Facilities Systems—systems used to monitor and control the Company’s places of work and office equipment

While the potential ramifications of the Year 2000 issue are significant, the Company believes that it is taking full
advantage of its internal resources and all necessary external resources to understand, identify and correct all Year 2000
issues within its control. The Company recognizes that there are significant unknowns, hence potential risks, that are
outside its control and will also take all reasonable steps to minimize the impact of those exposures. The Company has
made available timely information on the status of Year 2000 efforts to its employees and on the status of products to its
customers. In the absence of significant factors outside its control, the Company expects to be fully prepared to meet the
Year 2000 with minimal, if any, impact to its employees and customers.

The Company expects to have made all essential IT and non-IT systems Year 2000 ready before their known failure
dates or January 1, 2000, whichever is sooner. All products of the Company are, or are expected to be, Year 2000 ready
before their known failure dates or by January 1, 2000, whichever is sooner, and should any date-related problems be
revealed after that point, they will be fixed at no extra charge to the customer or replaced with a product of equal value.
The Company has established a global inquiry response process to ensure timely, clear, consistent, accurate and docu-
mented responses to all requests for information about its products and services.

The Company further expects to take all prudent and reasonable steps to validate the Year 2000-readiness of its
direct supply chain interfaces, but believes that this area does and will continue to represent a significant level of uncer-
tainty and business risk at least through the first half of the year 2000. If a significant portion of the supply chain suffers
Year 2000-related business disruption, there could be a material impact on the Company’s financial condition and results
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of operations. The Company’s definition for Year 2000 readiness is “A Definition of Year 2000 Conformity Require-
ments” published by the British Standards Institution (DISC PD 2000-1:1998).

Expectations for a successful outcome are based on the incorporation of a number of “best practices” in addressing
the Year 2000 problem. The Company has a formal global Year 2000 program office, headed by the Chief Information
Officer who reports directly to the President and staffed by a core project team of senior managers with representatives
from key worldwide business units. Year 2000 remediation work is being performed by a combination of in-house and
vendor personnel, which is consistent with normal business operations. Year 2000 progress and issues are reviewed regu-
larly with some or all of the Senior Management Team, including legal counsel, and the Audit Committee to ensure
timely and appropriate management attention. General employee communication programs are increasing. The program
office is using a compliance-reporting and risk-assessment methodology which provides a classification system and checklist
with domains including IT infrastructure, applications and procedures, process systems, facilities and equipment, prod-
ucts and services, and supply chains. The methodology uses the combined insights and knowledge bases from Gartner
Group’s research, benchmarking and consulting organizations. The Company has established standards for compliance,
date testing, document retention and contingency plans.

The Company has begun a formal prioritization and communication program with all material suppliers to ascertain
their readiness. All significant Company products have or will undergo testing to determine their ability to function cor-
rectly according to date testing standards. The core suite of accounting, finance, and human resources applications have
been replaced by Year 2000 compliant vendor packages. The remaining key in-house developed applications have been
analyzed for potential date problems and are in the process of being remediated. Many components of the IT infrastruc-
ture, non-IT process systems and non-IT facilities systems have been replaced or upgraded. It is believed that all of the
remaining non-compliant key components have been identified and these are planned for replacement or upgrade in
accordance with normal maintenance schedules.

The Company has used standard cost accounting principles (where possible, activity-based costing) to assign costs
to Year 2000 activities. The Company expects to establish a separate Year 2000 account to budget and track significant
fiscal 1999 Year 2000 expenditures. All maintenance and modification costs are expensed as incurred, while the cost of
new systems is being capitalized according to generally accepted accounting principles. Identified Year 2000 expenses
amounted to $1.9 million in fiscal 1998 and are forecast to be $5.2 million in fiscal 1999. These costs are predominantly
for the budgeted replacement or upgrades of I'T and non-IT systems, but also include pro-rated personnel standard unit
costs. These estimates do not include the Company’s potential share of Year 2000 costs that may be incurred in relation
to recent acquisitions.

The need to replace or upgrade systems and applications subject to Year 2000 errors had been anticipated and fac-
tored into regular improvements of the Company’s IT and non-IT technological environment. As a result, the source of
funding for Year 2000 remediation efforts is expected to be predominantly from cash flow from operations and, perhaps,
in a few isolated incidences from the short-term deferral of other discretionary projects. The Company has not incurred
and does not expect any material impact to future earnings or financial condition as a result of Year 2000 repair or
replacement activities.

The Company has examined the business impact associated with each of the six major areas described above. The
Company believes that it has limited products and services exposure due to the nature of those products and services, as
well as efforts expended to-date. The area of potential greatest risk is the Supply Chain. This risk is somewhat mitigated
by the diverse and distributed characteristics of both its Suppliers and Customers and the fact that the Company has no
material single vendor source suppliers. The Company has contacted key suppliers and customers to ascertain Year 2000
readiness, through questionnaires and/or personal follow-up, as appropriate. The Company has developed a “reasonably
likely worst case scenario” based on exploring a wide range of possible results from Year 2000 problems (note: it is
expected that there is a relatively small probability that the reasonably likely worst case scenario would actually occur).
The Company believes that this scenario would be the result of a general economic downturn coupled with sporadic
problems with basic infrastructure services. This scenario would probably affect the Company’s revenues and could
change demand for services (note: there is also a possibility for increased demand for the Company’s services related to
the Year 2000). The Company has begun the process of identifying potential variants of this scenario and expects to
develop business contingencies to deal with these situations. Other undiscovered issues related to the Year 2000 issue
have the potential for an adverse impact on the Company’s financial condition.

The Company plans to carefully monitor developments with key third party organizations, to identify alternatives as
needed and to promote the integrity of the supply chain through information sharing as appropriate. In addition, the
Company has begun the process of developing standards for Year 2000 contingency plans and will use this to guide the
process of preparing for the most likely case and reasonably anticipated scenario.

The Company’s plans to address the Year 2000 problem are based on management’s best judgments together with
the information that is available to date. Management’s position is based on assumptions of future events including the
continued availability of certain resources, third party modification plans and other factors. There can be no assurance
that these estimates will prove to be accurate, and actual results could differ materially from those currently anticipated.
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Unanticipated failures resulting from, but not limited to: a) essential third parties, b) the Company’s ability to identify
all date-sensitive systems, or ¢) the Company’s ability to execute its own remediation efforts, could materially impact the
Company’s business and financial condition.

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In June 1997, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income” (“FAS 130”)
and No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information” (“FAS 131”) were issued. FAS 130
establishes standards for reporting and disclosure of comprehensive income and its components in a full set of general-
purpose financial statements. This statement requires that all items that are required to be recognized under accounting
standards as components of comprehensive income be reported in a financial statement that is displayed with the same
prominence as other financial statements. FAS 131 establishes standards for the way that public business enterprises report
information about operating segments in annual financial statements and requires that those enterprises report selected
information about operating segments in interim financial reports issued to stockholders which is currently not required.
Tt also establishes standards for related disclosures about products and services, geographic areas and major customers.
The Company is required to adopt both new disclosure standards in the first quarter of fiscal 1999.

In March 1998, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants issued Statement of Position 98-1 (“SOP
98-17), “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use”. SOP 98-1 requires
companies to capitalize certain costs of computer software developed or obtained for internal use and amortize such costs
over the software’s estimated useful life. The Company is required to adopt SOP 98-1 in fiscal 2000. The Company is
currently evaluating the effect of adoption of SOP 98-1 on the Company’s financial position and results of operations.

In June 1998, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities ” (“FAS 133”) was issued. FAS 133 establishes a new model for accounting for derivatives and hedg-
ing activities. The Statement requires all derivatives be recognized in the statement of financial position as either assets
or liabilities and measured at fair value. The Company is required to adopt FAS 133 in fiscal 2000. The Company is cur-
rently evaluating the effect of adoption of FAS 133 on the Company’s financial position and results of operations.

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.

Amounts invested in the Company’s foreign operations are translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rates in effect at
year end. The resulting translation adjustments are recorded as cumulative translation adjustment, a component of stock-
holders’ equity, in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

ITeEM 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Company’s consolidated financial statements for the fiscal years ended September 30, 1998 and 1997, together with
the reports thereon of KPMG Peat Marwick LLP, independent auditors, dated October 30, 1998, except as to note 18
which is as of November 12, 1998, and the eighth paragraph of note 3 (Interpose acquisition), which is as of December
10, 1998, are included in this Report beginning on Page F-1.

ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None in the fiscal years ended September 30, 1998 and 1997.

PART Il

ITEM 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant.
Information relating to Directors is set forth under the caption “Proposal One: Election of Directors” on pages 2 through
11 in the Proxy Statement for Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Registrant to be held January 28, 1999 and is incor-
porated herein by reference.

Information relating to Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act is set forth under the caption “Section 16(a) Beneficial
Ownership Reporting Compliance” on page 15 in the Proxy Statement for Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Registrant
to be held January 28, 1999 and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 11. Executive Compensation.

Information relating to Executive Compensation is set forth under the caption “Compensation of Executive Officers” on
pages 6 through 11 of the Proxy Statement for Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Registrant to be held January 28,
1999 and is incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management.

Information relating to Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management is set forth under the caption
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” on page 15 in the Company’s Proxy Statement for
Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Registrant to be held January 28, 1999 and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.
Information relating to Certain Relationships and Related Transactions is set forth under the caption “Certain Relation-
ships and Transactions” of the Proxy Statement for Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Registrant to be held January 28,
1999 on pages 15 and 16 and is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV

ITem 14. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K.

(a) 1. Financial Statements

The presentation under “Financial Statements” is included in Item 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.

2. Financial Statement Schedule
II. Valuation and qualifying accounts.

Schedules not listed above have been omitted because the information required to be set forth therein is not
applicable or is shown in the financial statements or notes thereto.
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(b)

(o)

(d)

3. Exhibits

Exhibit

Number Description of Document

3.1a(2) Restated Certificate of Incorporation

3.1(b)(5) Amendment dated March 18, 1996 to Restated Certificate of Incorporation

3.2(5) Amended Bylaws, as of April 24, 1997

4.1 Article ITI, IV and V of Restated Certificate of Incorporation (see Exhibit 3.1 (a) and (b))

4.2(1) Form of Certificate for Common Stock

10.1(1) Form of Indemnification Agreement

10.2(1) Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement dated March 19, 1993 among the Registrant,
Dun & Bradstreet Corporation and D&B Enterprises, Inc.

10.4(2) Lease dated December 29, 1994 by and between Soundview Farms and the Registrant related to
premises at 56 Top Gallant Road, 70 Gatehouse Road, and 88 Gatehouse Road, Stamford, Connecticut

10.5 Lease dated May 16, 1997 by and between Soundview Farms and the Registrant related to premises at
56 Top Gallant Road, 70 Gatehouse Road, 88 Gatehouse Road and 10 Signal Road, Stamford,
Connecticut (amendment to lease dated December 29, 1994, see exhibit 10.4)

10.6(1)*  Long Term Incentive Plan (Tenure Plan), including form of Employee Stock Purchase Agreement

10.7(4)* 1991 Stock Option Plan, as amended and restated on January 22, 1998

10.8(1)* 1993 Director Stock Option Plan

10.9(1)*  Employee Stock Purchase Plan

10.10(4)* 1994 Long Term Stock Option Plan, as amended and restated on January 22, 1998

10.11(2) Forms of Master Client Agreement

10.12(1)  Commitment Letter dated July 16, 1993 from The Bank of New York

10.13(1)  Indemnification Agreement dated April 16, 1993 by and among the Registrant, Cognizant (as
successor to the Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) and the Information Partners Capital Fund

10.15(3)  Commitment Letter dated September 30, 1996 from Chase Manhattan Bank

10.16(4)* 1996 Long Term Stock Option Plan, as amended and restated on January 22, 1998

10.17% Employment Agreement by and between Manuel A. Fernandez and Gartner Group, Inc. as of
November 12, 1998

10.18% Employment Agreement by and between William T. Clifford and Gartner Group, Inc. as of
November 12, 1998

10.19%* Employment Agreement by and between E. Follett Carter and Gartner Group, Inc. as of
November 12, 1998

10.20% Employment Agreement by and between John F. Halligan and Gartner Group, Inc. as of
November 12, 1998

10.21% Employment Agreement by and between Michael D. Fleisher and Gartner Group, Inc. as of
November 12, 1998.

13.1 Annual report to stockholders

21.1 Subsidiaries of Registrant

23.1 Independent Auditors’ Consent

24.1 Power of Attorney (see Signature Page)

27.1 Financial Data Schedules

®

Management contract or compensation plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit to this
report on Form 10-K pursuant to Item 14(c) this report.

(1) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 33-67576), as
amended, effective October 4, 1993.

(2) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed on December 21, 1995.

(3) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed on December 17, 1996.

(4) Incorporated by reference from Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form10-Q as filed on May 8, 1998.

(5) Incorporated by reference from Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-35169) as filed
on September 8, 1997.

Reports on Form 8-K
No reports on Form 8-K were filed by the Registrant during the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 1998.

Exhibits

See (a) above.

Financial Statement Schedule

See (a) above.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City
of Stamford, State of Connecticut, on the 15th and 16th day of December, 1998.

GARTNER GROUP, INC.

By: /ss MANUEL A. FERNANDEZ

Manuel A. Fernandez
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSON BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and
appoints Manuel A. Fernandez and John E Halligan, and each of them acting individually, as his attorney-in-fact, each
with full power of substitution, for him in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Report on
Form 10-K, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities
and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming our signatures as they may be signed by our said attorney to
any and all amendments to said Report.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report on Form 10-K has been signed by the
following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Name Title Date
/sl MANUEL A. FERNANDEZ Director, Chairman of the Board December 16, 1998
Manuel A. Fernandez and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ JOHN E. HALLIGAN Executive Vice President and Chief December 15, 1998
John F. Halligan Financial Officer (Principal Financial

and Accounting Officer)

/s/ MAX HOPPER Director December 15, 1998
Max Hopper
/s/ JOHN P. IMLAY Director December 15, 1998

John P. Imlay

/s/ STEPHEN G. PAGLIUCA Director December 15, 1998
Stephen G. Pagliuca

/s/ DENNIS G. SISCO Director December 16, 1998

Dennis G. Sisco

/s/ WILLIAM O. GRABE Director December 15, 1998
William O. Grabe

/s/ ROBERT E. WEISSMAN Director December 16, 1998
Robert E. Weissman

By: /s/ JOHN F. HALLIGAN December 15, 1998

John E Halligan
Attorney-in-fact
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Gartner Group, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Gartner Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of September
30, 1998 and 1997, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows
for each of the years in the three-year period ended September 30, 1998. These consolidated financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstate-
ment. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by manage-
ment, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Gartner Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of September 30, 1998 and 1997, and the results of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended September 30, 1998, in conformity with gener-
ally accepted accounting principles.

KPMG Peat Marwick LLP

St. Petersburg, Florida

October 30, 1998, except as to note 18 which is
as of November 12, 1998, and the eighth paragraph
of note 3 (Interpose acquisition), which is as of
December 10, 1998
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GARTNER GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE DATA)

SEPTEMBER 30,

1998 1997
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents........ ... ..o $157,744 $142,415
Marketable SECULIEIOS . ...\ttt e e et e e e e e e e e e e 60,940 28,639
Fees receivable, net of allowances of $4,125 and $5,340.......... ... ... .. ... .......... 239,243 205,760
Deferred COMMUISSIONS . .. ..ottt ettt et e e e e e e e e e e e 28,287 23,019
Prepaid expenses and other current assets .............ooueiueiineiiieiineiinainnaenn.. 24,865 25,775
TOtal CULLENT ASSELS . .. .ottt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 511,079 425,608
Long-term marketable SECULITIES ... ...\ttt e e 43 610 17,691
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements, net...................cooiiiiiiiii.... 50,801 44,102
Intangible aSSEts, NET ... ...\ttt et et 155,786 132,195
OthEr ASSEES . . vttt ettt et et e 71,595 25,716
TOtAl @SSEES . . . .ottt et $832,871 $645,312
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ......... ..o $ 96,151 $ 85,411
Commissions payable. . ... ... . 20,422 16,979
Accrued bonuses payable ... ... ... 10,249 15,722
Deferred TeVENUES . . ...ttt 288,013 254,071
Total current Liabilities ... ... .. ... . o 414,835 372,183
Long-term deferred fEVENUES . .. ... tu ittt et 3,098 3,259
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred Stock:
$.01 par value, authorized 2,500,000 shares; none issued or outstanding .............. — —
Common stock:
$.0005 par value, authorized 200,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock and
1,600,000 shares of Class B Common Stock; issued 113,719,037 shares of Class A
Common (108,334,601 in 1997) and O shares of Class B Common Stock ............. 57 54
Additional paid-in capital ......... ..o 262,776 179,017
Cumulative translation adjustment. ... ... ...t e (2,155) (1,098)
Accumulated €arnings . ... ...... i 193,485 105,138
Treasury stock, at cost, 12,540,576 and 11,624,805 shares ............ccccveiieiininan... (39,225) (13,241)
Total stockholders” eqUIty .. ... ..ottt e 414,938 269,870
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ............c.ooiiiiiiiiiii i, $832,871 $645,312

SEE NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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GARTNER GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 1998 1997 1996
Revenues:
Advisory and measurement. .. .......uuuintn ittt $494,701 $396,219 $306,542
Larning o ettt 18,076 21,314 12,219
Other, principally consulting and conferences ............................... 129,180 93,706 75,911
TOtal FEVENUES . ..ottt et et e e 641,957 511,239 394,672
Costs and expenses:
Cost of services and product development..............cooviviiiiinia... 247,913 202,815 152,982
Selling, general and administrative ............c.ouiiiiinini .. 215,928 173,610 144,473
Acquisition-related charges......... ... i 4,494 — 34,898
Nonrecurring charges .. ... 2,819 — —
DEPLeCIAtION .« .« ettt ettt e et 17,909 11,758 9,064
Amortization of intangibles ........ ... .. . 9,357 6,443 3,815
Total coSts and EXPENSES . ...ttt ettt et 498,420 394,626 345,232
OPerating INCOME .. ...ttt ettt ettt et e 143,537 116,613 49,440
MINOLILY INTEIEST « . v vttt et ettt e e e e et e e e e — — 25
Loss on sale of GartnerLearning ... .......uuuiueuiinien e (1,973) — —
TNEErest INCOME, NET ...\ttt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e 9,557 7,260 3.665
Income before provision for inCOMe taxes. .. ........c.vuiunininennuninenannen.. 151,121 123,873 53,130
Provision for iNCOME TAXES . . ..o nv vttt et e e e e e e e e e e e 62,774 50,743 36,692
NEE INCOME . o vv e ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 88,347 $ 73,130 $ 16,438
Net income per common share:
BasiC .ot $.88 $.77 $.18
Diluted . ... $.84 $.71 $.17
Weighted average shares outstanding:
BASIC - v oo e 100,194 94,742 89,739
Diluted . ... 105,699 102,751 98,854

SEE NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
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GARTNER GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE DATA)

ADDITIONAL CUMULATIVE

TOTAL

PREFERRED COMMON PAID-IN TRANSLATION ACCUMULATED TREASURY STOCKHOLDERS'
STOCK STOCK CAPITAL ADJUSTMENT EARNINGS STOCK EQUITY

Balances at September 30, 1995 ............... $ 0 $51 $ 73,278 $(2,500) $ 17,257 $(13,835) $ 74,251
Net iNCOME . . oot ettt e e e — — — — 16,438 — 16,438
Issuance of 3,036,403 shares of Class A Common

Stock upon exercise of stock options .. ........ — 1 5,752 — — — 5,753
Issuance of 199,648 shares of Class A Common

Stock from purchases by employees........... — — 2,407 — — — 2,407
Issuance from treasury stock of 117,470 shares

of Class A Common Stock from purchases

by employees . . ........ ... .. — — 2,140 — — 264 2,404
Tax benefits of stock transactions with employees . . — — 29,415 — — — 29,415
Net transfers to D&B by Dataquest. . . .......... — — — — (1,687) — (1,687)
Cumulative translation adjustment ............. —_ (465) — —_ (465)
Acquisition of Dataquest, Inc.................. — — (15,000) — — — (15,000)
Acquisition of J3 Learning, Inc. ............... — — 36,719 — — — 36,719
Balances at September 30, 1996 ............... 0 52 134,711 (2,965) 32,008 (13,571) 150,235
Net iNCOMe . ..ottt — — — 73,130 — 73,130
Issuance of 4,036,862 shares of Class A Common

Stock upon exercise of stock options . ......... — 2 13,594 — — — 13,596
Issuance from treasury stock of 195,721 shares

of Class A Common Stock from purchases

by employees . .. ... .. i — — 5,883 — — 330 6,213
Conversion of 1,600,000 shares of Class B

Common Stock into Class A Common Stock. . . . — — — — — — —
Tax benefits of stock transactions with employees . . — — 36,833 — — — 36,833
Net share settlement of 449,932 shares of Class A

Common Stock on forward purchase agreement. . — — — — — — —
Net cash settlement paid on forward purchase

AGLEEMENT. .« o\ v et e et e e — — (12,004) — — — (12,004)
Cumulative translation adjustment . ............ — — — 1,867 — — 1,867
Balances at September 30, 1997 ............... 0 54 179,017 (1,098) 105,138 (13,241) 269,870
Net Income .. ...t .. — — — — 88,347 — 88,347
Issuance of 5,370,690 shares of Class A Common

Stock upon exercise of stock options .. ........ — 3 35,727 — — — 35,730
Issuance from treasury stock of 195,904 shares

of Class A Common Stock from purchases

by employees . . ....... .. ... L — — 5,885 — — 184 6,069
Tax benefits of stock transactions with employees . . — — 47,273 — — — 47,273
Net share settlement of 365,949 shares of Class A

Common Stock on forward purchase agreement. . — — — — — —
Net cash settlement paid on forward purchase

AGIEEMENT. . o\ vttt e e e — — (12,045) — — — (12,045)
Acquisition of 655,800 shares of Class A Common

SEOCK © et — — — — — (16,187) (16,187)
302,003 shares of Class A Common stock received

in settlement of officer loans .. .............. — — — — — (9,985) (9,985)
Issuance of 225,927 shares of Class A Common

Stock related to acquisitions .. .............. — — 6,919 — — 4 6,923
Cumulative translation adjustment ............. — — — (1,057) — — (1,057)
Balances at September 30, 1998 ............... $ 0 $57 $262,776 $(2,155) $193,485 $(39,225) $414,938

SEE NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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GARTNER GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(IN THOUSANDS)

FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,

1998 1997 1996
Operating activities:
Net INCOME . . . v ettt e e e $ 88,347 $ 73,130 $ 16,438
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization of intangibles................................ 27,266 18,201 12,879
Acquisition-related charges........ ... 4,494 — 34,898
Provision for doubtful accounts........... .. ... . i 4,051 3,421 3,295
Equity in losses of minority owned company...............coiiiiiiiiiin.... 512 202 (25)
Deferred reVenUES . . ...t 30,292 41,750 35,800
Deferred tax expense (benefit) ........ ..ot 906 1,554 (1,394)
Pre-acquisition tax benefit applied to reduce goodwill....................... — 275 517
Loss on sale of GartnerLearning ..........ouiuiiiinininiiniaiiniaanainns 1,973 — —
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions:
Increase in fees receivable .. ... ... ... (39,737) (60,378) (31,779)
Increase in deferred COMMUISSIONS ... vvvnee et e e (5,132) (4,262) (1,154)
Increase in prepaid expenses and other current assets........................ (10,645) (7,915) (1,995)
(Increase) decrease in Other aSSetS ... ........uuuuie it (5,100) (2,707) 116
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities................ 2,311 23,058 (5,414)
Increase in commissions payable............. .. .. i 3,566 1,785 2,160
(Decrease) increase in accrued bonuses payable .............................. (5,309) 957) 1,347
Cash provided by operating aCtiviti€s .. ..............eeeueineneneuninenannenns 97,795 87,157 65,689
Investing activities:
Proceeds from sale of GartnerLearning..............cooiiiiiiiiiiiiini.... 5,000 — —
Payment for businesses acquired (excluding cash acquired) .................. (45,418) (33,306) (46,176)
Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries.............. ... ... ... ... ..., (19,814) (9,089) (750)
Addition of property, equipment and leasehold improvements............... (24,269) (21,513) (15,614)
Marketable securities purchased, net................ ... i, (58,220) (13,229) (4,268)
L0ans t0 OffICerS. ... vttt (2,475) (7,163) —
Cash used for investing aCtivities. .. ... ......oouuiuiieniiiii e, (145,196) (84,300) (66,808)
Financing activities:
Principal payments on long-term debt and capital lease obligations ......... — — (6,725)
Issuance of common stock and warrants.................ciiiiii... 35,730 13,596 5,753
Proceeds from Employee Stock Purchase Plan offering ...................... 5,885 5,883 4,547
Tax benefits of stock transactions with employees ........................... 47,273 36,833 29,415
Distributions of capital between Dataquest and former parent............... — — (1,687)
Net cash settlement on forward purchase agreement ........................ (12,045) (12,004) —
(Purchase) sale of treasury stock ...........o i (13,931) 330 264
Cash provided by financing activities.......... ... ... 62,912 44,638 31,567
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents ................... .. ... .. ... 15,511 47,495 30,448
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents.......................... (182) (1,835) (274)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period...................cooiiiiii. 142,415 96,755 66,581
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period ..., $ 157,744 $142 415 $ 96,755
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the period for:
N3 ] P — — $437
INCOME CAXES . . ..o\ttt e e e e e e e e e $7,721 $6,597 $8,463
Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Stock received in settlement of officer loans and related interest ............. $9,985 — —
Equity interest received in connection with sale of GartnerLearning ......... $42,500 — —
Stock and options issued in connection with acquisitions.................... $6,923 — $36,719
Treasury stock transactions settled subsequent to year end................... $2,072 — —

SEE NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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GARTNER GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of consolidation. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Gartner Group, Inc. (“GGI”
or the “Company”) and its majority-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been
eliminated. Minority interest represents the minority stockholder’s proportionate share of the equity in businesses owned
less than 100%. The results of operations for acquisitions of companies accounted for using the purchase method have
been included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations beginning on the effective date of acquisition. The Compa-
ny’s investments in 20% to 50% owned companies in which it has the ability to exercise significant influence over oper-
ating and financial policies are accounted for on the equity method. Investments of less than 20% are carried at cost.

Revenue and commission expense recognition. Revenue from advisory, measurement and learning (“AML”) contracts is
recognized as products and services are delivered, and as the Company’s obligation to the client is completed over the
contract, generally twelve months. The Company’s policy is to record at the time of signing of an AML contract the fees
receivable and related deferred revenues for the full amount of the contract billable on that date. All such contracts are
non-cancelable and non-refundable, except for government contracts which have a 30-day cancellation clause. Govern-
ment contracts have not produced material cancellations to date. All contracts are billable upon signing, absent special
terms granted on a limited basis. The Company also records the related commission obligation upon the signing of the
contract and amortizes the corresponding deferred commission expense over the contract period in which the related rev-
enues are earned and amortized to income. Revenue from software licensing fees is recognized when the products have
been delivered, collectibility is probable, and the related software license fees are fixed or determinable. Components of
revenues attributable to future service are deferred and recognized as such services are performed. Other revenues consist
principally of revenues recognized as earned from consulting services and conferences.

Cash equivalents and marketable securities. Marketable securities that mature within three months of purchase are
considered cash equivalents. Investments with maturities of more than three months are classified as marketable securi-
ties. The Company’s marketable securities consist of marketable debt securities which are classified as held-to-maturity
and valued at amortized cost, which approximates market. It is management’s intent to hold all investments to maturity.

Inventories. Inventories, which have primarily consisted of finished goods related to the Company’s training business,
GartnerLearning, are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined on a first-in, first-out basis. Inventories
consist primarily of material costs, and are included in the balance sheet caption “Prepaid expenses and other current
assets”. Inventories were $0 and $2.1 million at September 30, 1998 and 1997, respectively.

Property, equipment and leasebold improvements. Property, equipment and leasehold improvements are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Property and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over
the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the asset or the remaining term of the related leases.

Software development costs. Under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 86, “Accounting for the Costs of
Computer Software to Be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed,” capitalization of computer software development costs is
to begin upon the establishment of technological feasibility, limited to the net realizable value of the software product,
and cease when the software product is available for general release to clients. Until these products reach technological
feasibility, all costs related to development efforts are charged to expense. Amortization of capitalized computer software
development costs begins when the products are available for general release to customers. Software development costs,
subsequent to technological feasibility and prior to general release, have not been material and have been expensed.

Intangible assets. Intangible assets include goodwill, non-compete agreements, tradenames and other intangibles.
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of acquired businesses over the estimated fair value of the tangible
and identifiable intangible net assets acquired. Amortization is recorded using the straight-line method over periods
ranging from seven to thirty years. These amounts have been and are subject to adjustment in accordance with the provi-
sions of the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“FAS 109”) (see Note
9. Income Taxes). Non-compete agreements are being amortized on a straight-line basis over the period of the agreement
ranging from three to five years. Tradenames and other intangibles are being amortized on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives ranging from four to thirty years. At the end of each quarter, the Company reviews events and
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(CONTINUED)

changes in circumstances to determine whether the recoverability of the carrying value of the intangible asset should be
assessed. Should events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable based on undiscounted
future cash flows, an impairment loss measured by the difference between the discounted future cash flows (or another
acceptable method for determining fair value) and the carrying value of the intangible would be recognized by the
Company.

Foreign currency translation. All assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at fiscal
year-end exchange rates. Income and expense items are translated at average exchange rates prevailing during the fiscal
year. The resulting translation adjustments are recorded as a component of stockholders’ equity.

Income taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized based on differences between the book and tax bases
of assets and liabilities using presently enacted tax rates. The provision for income taxes is the sum of the amount of
income tax paid or payable for the year as determined by applying the provisions of enacted tax laws to taxable income
for that year and the net changes during the year in the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities.

Undistributed earnings of subsidiaries outside of the U.S. amounted to approximately $12.1 million and will either
be indefinitely reinvested or remitted substantially free of tax. Accordingly, no material provision has been made for taxes
that may be payable upon remittance of such earnings, nor is it practicable to determine the amount of this liability. The
Company credits additional paid-in capital for realized tax benefits arising from stock transactions with employees. The
tax benefit on a non-qualified stock option is equal to the tax effect of the difference between the market price of a share
of the Company’s common stock on the exercise and grant dates. To the extent the Company incurs employment taxes as
a direct result of the exercise of such stock options, this cost is charged to additional paid-in capital.

Computations of income per share of common stock. In February 1997, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 128 “Earning per Share” (“FAS 128”) was issued. The Statement sets forth guidance on the presentation of earnings
per share (“"EPS”) and requires dual presentation of basic and diluted earnings per share on the face of the income state-
ment. Basic EPS is computed by dividing earnings available to common stockholders by the weighted average number
of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution of securities that could share in
earnings, including stock options and warrants. EPS amounts have been calculated and presented under the provisions of
FAS 128.

The following table sets forth the required disclosures of the reconciliation of the basic and diluted net earnings per

share computations.
FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30

1998 1997 1996
Numerator:
NEt INCOME . ..ottt e e e e e e e e e e $ 88,347 $ 73,130 $16,438
Denominator
Denominator for basic earnings per share—weighted average number of
common shares outstanding..............oiiiiiii i 100,194 94,742 89,739
Effect of dilutive securities:
Weighted average number of common shares under warrant outstanding . . 298 274 310
Weighted average number of option shares outstanding................... 5,207 7,735 8,805
Dilutive potential common shares. ... 5,505 8,009 9,115
Denominator for diluted earnings per share—adjusted weighted average
number of common shares outstanding ................... .. 105,699 102,751 98,854
Basic earnings per common Share .. .............o.iiuiiiiiiiiiii i, $0.88 $0.77 $0.18
Diluted earnings per common share. ............ouiiiiiiiiiiiniaan., $0.84 $0.71 $0.17

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 1998, options to purchase 2.2 million shares of Class A Common Stock of
the Company with exercise prices greater than the average fair market value of the Company’s stock for the period of
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$32.67 were not included in the calculation because the effect would have been antidilutive. All outstanding options for
the fiscal years ended September 30, 1997 and 1996 were dilutive and were included in the calculation of diluted earn-
ings per share.

Recently issued accounting standards. In June 1997, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130, “Report-
ing Comprehensive Income” (“FAS 130”) and “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information”
(“FAS 1317) were issued. FAS 130 establishes standards for reporting and disclosure of comprehensive income and its
components in a full set of general-purpose financial statements. This statement requires that all items that are required
to be recognized under accounting standards as components of comprehensive income be reported in a financial statement
that is displayed with the same prominence as other financial statements. FAS 131 establishes standards for the way that
public business enterprises report information about operating segments in annual financial statements and requires that
those enterprises report selected information about operating segments in interim financial reports issued to stockholders
which is currently not required. It also establishes standards for related disclosures about products and services, geo-
graphic areas and major customers. The Company is required to adopt both new disclosure standards in the first quarter
of fiscal 1999.

In March 1998, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants issued Statement of Position 98-1 (“SOP
98-17), “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use”. SOP 98-1 requires
companies to capitalize certain costs of computer software developed or obtained for internal use and amortize such costs
over the software’s estimated useful life. The Company is required to adopt SOP 98-1 in fiscal 2000. The Company is
currently evaluating the effect of adoption of SOP 98-1 on the Company’s financial position and results of operations.

In June 1998, Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities ” (“FAS 133”) was issued. FAS 133 establishes a new model for accounting for derivatives and hedg-
ing activities. The Statement requires all derivatives be recognized in the statement of financial position as either assets
or liabilities and measured at fair value. The Company is required to adopt FAS 133 in fiscal 2000. The Company is cur-
rently evaluating the effect of adoption of FAS 133 on the Company’s financial position and results of operations.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments. Most of Company’s financial instruments, including cash, marketable securities,
trade receivables and payables, and accruals are short-term in nature. Accordingly, the carrying amount of these financial
instruments approximates its fair value (see Note 11 regarding forward purchase agreements).

Concentrations of Credit Risk. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit
risk consist primarily of cash, marketable securities and fees receivable. The Company invests its cash primarily in a
diversified portfolio of highly-rated municipal and government bonds. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to fees
receivables are limited due to the large number of customers comprising the Company’s customer base and their disper-
sion across many different industries and geographic regions.

Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and disclo-
sures, if any, of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of rev-
enues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Estimates are used when
accounting for such items as allowance for doubtful accounts, depreciation, amortization, income taxes and certain
accrued liabilities.

2—RELATED PARTIES

The Dun and Bradstreet Corporation (“D&B”), an investor in Information Partners Capital Fund, L.P. (“the Fund”), pro-
vided a portion of the financing in connection with the acquisition of the Company in October 1990. In April 1993,
D&B acquired a majority of the outstanding voting securities of the Company in transactions among the Company, D&B
and persons and entities associated with the Fund. On November 1, 1996, D&B transferred ownership of its Class A and
Class B Common Stock of the Company to Cognizant Corporation (“Cognizant”), a spin-off of D&B and an independent
public company. At the date of transfer, these shares represented 51% of the Company’s outstanding common stock. Dur-
ing fiscal 1997, Cognizant’s ownership of the Company’s outstanding common stock fell below 50%. On June 30, 1998,
Cognizant transferred its ownership in the Company to IMS Health Incorporated, (“IMS Health”), a spin-off of Cognizant
and an independent public company. (See Note 18—Subsequent Event.)
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On June 4, 1997, with the Board of Directors approval, the Company provided loans totaling $7.2 million to cer-
tain officers to facilitate the purchase of common stock arising out of the exercise of stock options. The loans proceeds
were not used to fund the option exercise price of the common stock acquired. The loans were full recourse obligations
to the officers and were secured by shares of the Company’s stock. The loans bore interest at an annual rate of 6.1%. The
principal amount of the loans totaling $7.2 million are included in other assets on the September 30, 1997 Consolidated
Balance Sheets. On December 18, 1997, with the Board of Directors approval, the Company provided additional loans
for the same purpose to certain officers totaling $2.5 million. The loans bore interest at an annual rate of 5.6%. On
July 23, 1998, with Board of Directors’ approval, the Company received 302,003 shares of Class A Common Stock in
settlement of the loan balance and accrued interest due.

3—ACQUISITIONS
On December 1, 1995, the Company acquired all the outstanding shares of Dataquest, a wholly-owned subsidiary of D&B, for
consideration of $15.0 million in cash, 3,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock with an approximate fair market value of
$60.0 million, and a five year warrant to purchase 600,000 shares of Class A Common Stock at $16.42 per share. Dataquest
is a provider of information technology (“IT”) market research and consulting for the IT vendor manufacturer and financial
communities which complements the GGI end user focus. The Company has accounted for the acquisition as a transfer and
exchange between companies under common control and the 3,000,000 shares have been assumed to be outstanding for all
periods presented. Accordingly, the accounts of Dataquest have been combined with the Company’s at historical cost in a
manner similar to a pooling of interests. Transaction costs of $1.7 million relating to the acquisition have been included in
acquisition-related charges in the Consolidated Statement of Operations for fiscal 1996.

Combined and separate results of the Company and Dataquest during the periods preceding the merger were as
follows (in thousands):

THREE MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1995 (UNAUDITED) GGl DATAQUEST COMBINED
TOtal FEVENUES . . ..ottt e e e e $76,005 $20,469 $96,474
NEE INCOME . . vv ettt e e e e e e e e e $10,570 $ 923 $11,493

There were no intercompany transactions between the two companies for the period.

On July 31, 1996, the Company acquired all of the outstanding shares of J3 Learning Corporation (“J3”) for consid-
eration of approximately $8.0 million in cash, 1,065,290 shares of Class A Common Stock which had an approximate
fair market value of $35.4 million and options to purchase Class A Common Stock which had a value of $1.3 million.
J3 publishes, markets and distributes software educational materials for corporate and individual training (collectively
known as “technology based training”). The acquisition was accounted for by the purchase method, and the purchase
price has been allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, based upon the estimated fair values at the date
of acquisition. The excess purchase price over the fair value of amounts assigned to the net tangible assets acquired was
$51.1 million. Of such amount, $32.2 million was expensed at acquisition as purchased in-process research and develop-
ment costs and is included in acquisition-related charges in the Consolidated Statement of Operations for fiscal 1996, and
substantially all of the remaining excess purchase price was allocated to goodwill and tradename.

The following unaudited pro forma summary presents the consolidated results of operations of the Company for the
fiscal year ended September 30, 1996 as if the acquisition of J3 had occurred at the beginning of the year and does not
purport to be indicative of what would have occurred had the acquisition been made as of that date (in thousands, except
per share data):

Total revenue. ......ooue e $401,329
Net INCOME .. .vvvt et $11,749
Net income per diluted common share .. .. $0.12
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On September 1, 1998, the Company sold its technology based training business (see Note 4—Sale of GartnerLearning).

On August 1, 1997, the Company acquired all of the outstanding shares of Datapro Information Services
(“Datapro”), a unit of McGraw-Hill Companies for consideration of approximately $25.0 million in cash. Datapro is a
provider of information on product specifications and pricing, product comparisons, technology reports, market over-
views, case studies and user ratings surveys. Datapro’s services and products provide feature and side-by-side comparisons
of computer hardware, software and communications products. The acquisition was accounted for by the purchase
method, and the purchase price has been allocated to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed, based upon the esti-
mated fair values at the date of acquisition. The excess purchase price over the fair value of amounts assigned to the net
tangible assets acquired was $33.5 million and has been recorded as goodwill which is being amortized over 30 years. In
addition, $2.5 million of the purchase price was allocated to a non-compete agreement which is being amortized over 4
years. If the acquisition of Datapro had occurred at the beginning of fiscal year 1996, consolidated total revenues on a
pro forma basis would have been $536.6 million and $431.4 million for fiscal years 1997 and 1996, respectively. This
revenue does not purport to be indicative of what would have occurred had the acquisition been made as of that date or
of total revenues which may occur in the future. The pro forma effect on the Company’s net income and net income per
common share for fiscal 1997 and 1996 is not material.

On October 22, 1997, the Company acquired a 32% membership interest in Jupiter Communications, LLC (“Jupi-
ter”) for $8.0 million in cash. On September 16, 1998, the Company increased its membership interest in Jupiter to
37% for an additional $1.3 million in cash. Jupiter is a provider of analyst-based research and strategic planning services
to the consumer and Internet and interactive industries. This investment is accounted for under the equity method of
accounting. The excess of the cost of the investment over the underlying proportionate share of net assets (goodwill) in
Jupiter totaling $9.3 million is being amortized over 30 years and is included in other assets in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets.

On January 30, 1998, the Company acquired all the assets and assumed the liabilities of Interpose, Inc. (“Inter-
pose”), for $7.5 million in cash and 13,746 shares of Class A Common Stock of the Company which had an approximate
fair market value of $0.5 million. Interpose is a provider of total cost of ownership (TCO) measurement and analysis
tools and training. The acquisition was accounted for by the purchase method, and the purchase price has been allocated
to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, based upon estimated fair values at the date of acquisition. The excess pur-
chase price over the fair value of amounts assigned to the net tangible assets acquired was $7.5 million. Of such amount,
$6.3 million was expensed during the second quarter of 1998 as purchased in-process research and development costs and
is presented as the acquisition-related charge in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. On December 10, 1998, the
Company revised the amount of expensed purchased in-process research and development costs from $6.3 million to $4.5
million. The change was in response to recently developed guidance from the Securities and Exchange Commission. Of
the remaining excess purchase price, $2.3 million was allocated to goodwill which is being amortized over 12 years and
$0.9 million was allocated to a non-compete agreement which is being amortized over 5 years.

On May 18, 1998, the Company acquired all the assets and assumed the liabilities of The Research Board, Inc., for
$6.4 million in cash and 183,945 shares of Class A Common Stock of the Company which had an approximate fair mar-
ket value of $5.7 million. The Research Board compiles and provides information technology (“IT”) research on suppliers
and new technologies, validated management practices and IT best practices to its membership, which consist principally
of senior IT executives. The acquisition was accounted for by the purchase method, and the purchase price has been allo-
cated to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed, based upon estimated fair values at the date of acquisition. The
excess purchase price over the fair value of amounts assigned to the net tangible assets acquired was $13.5 million, of
which $12.9 million has been recorded as goodwill, which is being amortized over 30 years. In addition, $0.6 million of
the purchase price was allocated to a non-compete agreement which is being amortized over 5 years.

On September 4, 1998, the Company acquired all of the outstanding shares of Vision Events International, Inc., for
$20.5 million in cash. Vision Events International, Inc. produces premiere channel events that serve to bring information
technology vendors, value-added resellers, and system integrators together with vendors and distributors selling through
these channels. The acquisition was accounted for by the purchase method, and the purchase price has been allocated to
the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed, based upon estimated fair values at the date of acquisition. The excess
purchase price over the fair value of amounts assigned to the net tangible assets acquired was $24.0 million of which
$23.6 million has been recorded as goodwill which is being amortized over 30 years. In addition, $0.4 million of the
purchase price was allocated to a non-compete agreement which is being amortized over 3 years.

During fiscal 1998, the Company completed additional acquisitions for consideration of $12.8 million in cash and
28,236 shares of Class A Common Stock of the Company which had an approximate fair market value of $0.7 million.
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During fiscal 1997, the Company completed additional acquisitions for $8.1 million in cash. These acquisitions have
been accounted for under the purchase method and substantially all of the purchase price has been assigned to goodwill.

The pro forma results of operations for fiscal years 1998 and 1997, assuming the fiscal 1998 acquisitions were made
at the beginning of each year would not differ significantly from the historical results.

On October 7, 1998, the Company acquired all the assets and assumed the liabilities of Griggs-Anderson, Inc., for
$10.9 million in cash and 306,475 shares of Class A Common Stock of the Company which had an approximate fair
market value of $7.3 million. Griggs-Anderson, Inc. provides custom market research to vendors in the technology mar-
ketplace, research and surveys for the evaluation of Web sites for effectiveness of content, technical performance, ease of
navigation, impact of graphics, and demographic profiles of users. The acquisition was accounted for by the purchase
method.

4—SALE OF GARTNERLEARNING

On September 1, 1998, the Company sold GartnerLearning, a division of the Company that provides technology based
training and services for information technology professionals to Netg Inc. (“Netg”), a subsidiary of Harcourt Brace &
Company, for $5.0 million in cash and an 8% equity interest in Netg. In addition, the Company received a put option
which allows the Company to sell its 8% equity interest to an affiliate of Harcourt Brace & Company for $48.0 million
in cash. This put option may be exercised for two years beginning on September 1, 2002, if certain conditions are met.
The Company’s 8% interest in Netg has an independently appraised fair value of $42.5 million and is included in other
assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Including transaction costs related to the sale of $3.8 million, the pre-tax loss
on sale of GartnerLearning was approximately $2.0 million (also see Note 10—Income Taxes for the impact of the sale
on the income tax provision).

5—NONRECURRING CHARGES

During fiscal 1998, the Company recorded nonrecurring charges, primarily consisting of relocation and severance costs,
totaling approximately $2.8 million related to the Company’s relocation of certain accounting and order processing
operations from Stamford, Connecticut to a new financial services center in Ft. Myers, Florida. These expenses are
recorded as nonrecurring charges in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

6—PROPERTY, EQUIPMENT AND LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements, catried at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization consist
of the following (in thousands):

SEPTEMBER 30,

USEFUL
LIFE (YEARS) 1998 1997
Furniture and eqUIPMeNt .. ... ... ... 3-8 $ 27,278  § 25,568
COMPULET EQUIPIMIEIIE . . .o\ ettt ettt et e e et e e et e e e e e 2-3 60,809 56,979
Leasehold improvements .. .. .....uuue ittt 2-15 21,916 19,257
110,003 101,804
Less—accumulated depreciation and amortization ............ ... (59,202) (57,702)

$ 50,801 $ 44,102

7—INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET
Intangible assets, net, carried at cost, less accumulated amortization consist of the following (in thousands):
SEPTEMBER 30,

AMORTIZATION

PERIOD (YEARS) 1998 1997
GoodWill . ..o 7-30 $168,936  $138,537
NON-COMPELe AZIEEMENTS . . . ..o\ttt ete ettt et et et e e 3-5 5,489 3,462
Tradenames. . .. ..ottt 12 778 6,978
Title LDIary « ..ot 4 — 1,900

175,203 150,877
Less—accumulated amortization .. ..........uo oo (19,417) (18,682)

$155,786  $132,195
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8—COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The Company leases various facilities, furniture and computer equipment under lease arrangements expiring between

fiscal 1999 and 2022.
Future minimum annual payments under operating lease agreements as of September 30, 1998 are as follows

(in thousands):

FISCAL YEAR

100 $ 16,259
2000 . 13,973
200 L 11,140
2002 . 8,546
20003 L 7,225
Thereafter ... ... 52,840
Total minimum lease Payments ............vvuiuireriininanannin.. $109,983

Rental expense for operating leases, net of sublease income, was $21.3 $16.8, and $11.0 million for the fiscal years
ended September 30, 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. The Company has commitments with two facilities manage-
ment companies for printing, copying, mail room and other related services. The minimum annual obligations under
these service agreements are $4.8 million for fiscal 1998, 1999, and 2000, $4.2 million for fiscal 2001 and 2002, and
$1.1 million for fiscal year 2003.

The Company is involved in legal proceedings and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. The
Company believes the outcome of all current proceedings, claims and litigation will not have a material effect on the
Company’s financial position or results of operations when resolved in a future period.

9—LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS
The Company has available two unsecured credit lines with The Bank of New York and Chase Manhattan Bank for $5.0

million and $25.0 million, respectively. Borrowings under The Bank of New York line accrue interest charges at LIBOR
plus 2%. Alternatively, the rate shall be the higher of the prime commercial lending rate of the bank or the Federal
Funds Rate plus 1/2 of 1% in the event LIBOR is unavailable. The Chase Manhattan Bank line carries an interest rate
equal to either the prime rate of Chase Manhattan Bank, LIBOR plus .25% for periods of 30, 60 or 90 days as the Com-
pany may choose, or a “fixed option” rate. There are no commitment fees associated with these lines. These lines may be
canceled by the banks at any time without prior notice or penalty. No borrowings were outstanding under either line at
September 30, 1998 and 1997.

Letters of credit are issued by the Company in the ordinary course of business. The Company had outstanding letters
of credit with Chase Manhattan Bank of $4.1 million and $2.0 million with The Bank of New York as of September 30,

1998.

10—INCOME TAXES

Following is a summary of the components of income before provision for income taxes (in thousands):

FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,

1998 1997 1996
U S oo $113,589 $ 93,758 $40,650
NOD-U. S, 37,532 30,115 12,480
Consolidated . . ..ot $151,121 $123,873 $53,130
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The provision for income on the above income consists of the following components (in thousands):

FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,

1998 1997 1996
Current tax expense:
US. federal .. ..o $ 2,081 $ 797 $ 1,775
State and local . ... ... 2,257 1,872 2,178
FOLEIGI .« . ottt 8,927 8,208 3,164
TOtal CULTENE .« .\ttt ettt e e e e e e e e e 13,265 10,877 7,117
Deferred tax expense (benefit): ..........ooiiiiiiii i
US. federal . ..o 921 434 58
State and local . ... .. 552 912 (1,347)
FOLEIGN . ottt e (567) 208 (105)
Total deferred ... ... 906 1,554 (1,394)
Total current and deferred ....... ... ... . . 14,171 12,431 5,723
Benefit of stock transactions with employees allocated
to additional paid-in capital..............oiiiii e 48,603 38,037 30,452
Benefit of purchased tax benefits credited to goodwill ......................... — 275 517
Total provision for iNCOME TAXES ... ... tuntute ettt $62,774 $50,743 $36,692
Current and long-term deferred tax assets and liabilities are comprised of the following (in thousands):
SEPTEMBER 30,
1998 1997
DEPIECIALION. . o .o\ ettt ettt ettt e e e e $ 666 $ 895
Expense accruals for book purposes. ......... ... .. 4,285 6,992
Loss and credit carryforwards ... o 11,456 9,380
Intangible @SSEts. .. ... ...ttt 1,814 —
Ot . 1,104 1,706
Gross deferred tax aSSET. .. ...\t in ittt e 19,325 18,973
INEan@Ible @SSES. .. ..\ttt ettt e e e (2,299) (3,383)
EQUILY TEEIEST . ..ottt et ettt et et et e e e e (2,477) —
Other . (89) (858)
Gross deferred tax liability. ... ... i e (4,865) (4,241)
Valuation alloOWancCe .. ...t e e (6,444) (4,962)
Net deferred tax @SSET. . ...ttt e e e e e e e e $ 8,016 $ 9,770

Current and long-term net deferred tax assets are $1.8 million and $6.2 million as of September 30, 1998 and $5.1

million and $4.7 million as of September 30, 1997, respectively, and are included in Prepaid expenses and other current

assets and other assets, respectively, in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The valuation allowance relates to domestic and foreign tax loss carryforwards that more likely than not will expire

unutilized. The net increase in the valuation allowance of approximately $1.5 million in the current year results prima-

rily from the increase in state tax carryforwards of approximately $2.0 million and the net utilization of foreign tax loss

carryforwards of approximately $0.5 million. The net decrease in the valuation allowance of approximately $1.6 million
in fiscal 1997 was due primarily from the utilization of foreign tax loss carryforwards. The tax benefit from such tax loss
carryforwards was $1.2, $1.7, and $1.0 million for fiscal years 1998, 1997, and 1996, respectively. Approximately $3.4
million of the valuation allowance would reduce paid-in-capital upon subsequent recognition of any related tax benefits.
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The differences between the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate and the Company’s effective rate are:

SEPTEMBER 30,

1998 1997 1996
SEATULOLY TAX FATE . ...ttt ittt ettt et et e et ettt e et e 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit ......... ... ... .. 4.3 4.5 5.3
Foreign income taxed at a different rate......... ..o 0.7 0.6 1.5
Non-deductible goodwill and direct acquisition COSES..........o.iuiiirieiiniaanin.. 3.5 0.9 0.9
Non-taxable interest INCOME .. ... ...ttt e e (1.3) (0.9) (1.3)
Exempt foreign trading gross reCeiprs . ... ........uuiuuueuetneiaiaa e, (1.4) (1.0) —
Other TTEMS . ... e 0.7 1.9 1.6
Effective rate without write-off of purchased in-process research and development costs. . 41.5 41.0 43.0
Non-deductible write-off of purchased in-process research and development costs. .. ..... — = 26.1
EffECtive taX FATE . ...ttt ettt et e e e 41.5% 41.0% 69.1%

The sale of GartnerLearning resulted in an additional tax provision of $4.2 million primarily due to the reversal of
non-deductible goodwill. The effective tax rate, less the impact of the sale of GartnerLearning, was 39%.

As of September 30, 1998, the Company had U.S. federal tax loss carryforwards of $10.0 million which will expire
in ten to twelve years and state and local tax loss carryforwards of $57.6 million, the majority of which will expire in
three to five years. The U.S. federal tax loss carryforwards are subject to limitations on their use under the Internal Rev-
enue Code. In addition, the Company has foreign tax loss carryforwards of $4.6 million, of which $0.5 million will
expire within three to five years, and $4.1 million can be carried forward indefinitely.

11—CAPITAL STOCK AND STOCK REPURCHASE PROGRAM

The Company effected a two-for-one stock split of its Class A and Class B Common Stock by means of a stock dividend
in March 1996, June 1995 and August 1994. All earnings per share and share data presented herein have been restated
retroactively to reflect such splits. As of September 30, 1997, the Company had recorded the conversion of all Class B
Common Stock into Class A Common Stock on a one for one basis, pursuant to a provision of the Articles of Incorpora-
tion which requires conversion when the Class B Common Stockholder’s voting equity falls below a certain ownership
percentage after considering all exercisable options and warrants outstanding. Class A Common Stock stockholders are
entitled to one vote per share on all matters to be voted by stockholders, other than the election of directors. Prior to
the conversion of the Class B Common Stock, Class B Common stockholders had certain preferential voting rights with
respect to the election of members of the Board of Directors.

Beginning in fiscal 1997, the Company has entered into a series of forward purchase agreements on its Class A
Common Stock. These agreements are settled quarterly at the Company’s option on a net basis in either shares of its
own Class A Common Stock or cash. To the extent that the market price of the Company’s Class A Common Stock on a
settlement date is higher (lower) than the forward purchase price, the net differential is received (paid) by the Company.
During fiscal 1997, two settlements resulted in the Company receiving 449,932 shares of Class A Common Stock
(recorded in Treasury stock at no cost) and paying approximately $12.0 million in cash (recorded as a reduction of addi-
tional paid-in capital). During fiscal 1998, four settlements resulted in the Company receiving 365,949 shares of Class A
Common Stock and paying approximately $12.0 million in cash. As of September 30, 1998, a forward purchase agree-
ment in place covered approximately $27.2 million or 984,119 shares of Class A Common Stock having forward pur-
chase prices established at $27.63 per share. If the market priced portion of this agreement was settled based on the
September 30, 1998 market price of Class A Common Stock ($21.94 per share), the Company would settle under the
terms of the forward purchase agreement with a payment of either $5.6 million in cash or 255,142 shares of Class A
Common Stock.

On August 24, 1998, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the repurchase of up to 2,500,000 shares of Class
A Common Stock. The stock repurchase program is intended to offset the dilutive effect of the Company’s stock-based
employee compensation plans. As of September 30, 1998, the Company has repurchased 655,800 shares of Class A Com-
mon Stock at a cost of approximately $16.2 million.
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12—EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLANS

In January 1993, the Company adopted an employee stock purchase plan (the “1993 Employee Stock Purchase Plan”),
and reserved an aggregate of 4,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock for issuance under this plan. The plan permits
eligible employees to purchase Class A Common Stock through payroll deductions, which may not exceed 10% of an
employee’s compensation (or $21,250 in any calendar year), at a price equal to 85% of Class A Common Stock price as
reported by NYSE at the beginning or end of each offering period, whichever is lower. During fiscal year 1998, 195,904
shares were issued from treasury stock at an average purchase price of $30.98 per share in conjunction with this plan. At
September 30, 1998, 2,078,933 shares were available for offering under the plan.

13—STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS

Under the terms of the 1991 Stock Option Plan, (the “Option Plan”), the Board of Directors may grant non-qualified and
incentive options, entitling employees to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock at the fair market value on the
date of grant. The Board can determine the date on which options vest and become exercisable. A total of 32,800,000
and 22,800,000 shares of Class A Common Stock were reserved for issuance under the Option Plan as of September 30,
1998 and 1997, respectively. In April 1998, the Board of Directors adopted an amendment, subject to final shareholder
approval, to the Option Plan to increase the number of shares reserved for issuance thereunder by 10,000,000 shares.

At September 30, 1998 and 1997, 9,001,508 and 2,955,416 options were available for grant, respectively.

In January 1993, the Company adopted a stock option plan for directors (the “1993 Director Option Plan”) and
reserved an aggregate of 1,200,000 shares of Class A Common Stock for issuance under this plan. The plan provided for
the automatic grant of 120,000 options to purchase shares of Class A Common Stock to each non-employee director
upon first becoming a director on or after February 1, 1993, and the automatic grant of an option to purchase an addi-
tional 24,000 options to purchase shares of Class A Common Stock annually based on continuous service as a director. In
January 1996, the plan was amended to provide for the automatic grant of 15,000 options to purchase shares of Class A
Common Stock to each non-employee director upon first becoming a director and the automatic grant of an option to
purchase an additional 3,000 options to purchase shares of Class A Common Stock annually based on continuous service
as a director. The exercise price of each option granted under the plan is equal to the fair value of the Class A Common
Stock at the date of grant. Options granted are subject to cumulative yearly vesting over a three year period after the
date of grant and the number of shares to be granted under the amended terms will not be adjusted for any future stock
splits. At September 30, 1998 and 1997, 603,000 and 621,000 options were available for grant, respectively.

In October 1994, the Board of Directors and stockholders of the Company approved the adoption of a Long-Term
Stock Option Plan (“the 1994 Long-Term Plan”) and the reservation of an aggregate of 6,560,000 shares of Class A
Common Stock for issuance thereunder. The purpose of the plan is to provide to senior personnel long-term equity par-
ticipation in the Company as an incentive to promote the long-term success of the Company. The exercise price of each
option granted under the plan is equal to the fair value of the Class A Common Stock at the date of grant. All options
granted under the plan vest and become fully exercisable five years following the date of grant, based on continued
employment, and have a term of ten years from the date of grant assuming continued employment. Vesting and exercis-
ability accelerates upon achievement of certain financial performance targets determined by the Board of Directors. If all
financial performance targets are met timely in accordance with parameters as set by the Board in its sole discretion,
25% of the shares granted become exercisable on the first anniversary date following the date of grant and, if subsequent
financial performance targets are met for both the first and second fiscal years following the date of grant, a second 25%
become exercisable three years following the date of grant. If financial performance targets are met consecutively for all
three fiscal years following the date of grant, a third 25% become exercisable on the fourth anniversary date following
the date of grant and the final 25% become exercisable on the fifth anniversary following the date of grant. Failure to
achieve the specified target or targets for any one fiscal year or consecutive fiscal years can be remedied by achievement of
the cumulative target in a succeeding fiscal year or years. Based on fiscal 1996, 1997 and 1998 performance, 1,048,280
shares were exercisable on September 30, 1998. An additional 1,475,000 options became exercisable on October 10,
1998. At September 30, 1998 and 1997, 287,500 and 810,000 shares were available for grant, respectively.

In October 1996, the Company adopted the 1996 Long Term Stock Option Plan (“the 1996 long-term Plan”).
Under the terms of the plan, the Board of Directors may grant non-qualified and incentive options, entitling employees
to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock at the fair market value at the date of option grant. A total of
1,800,000 shares of Class A Common Stock was reserved for issuance under this plan. All options granted under the plan
vest and become fully exercisable six years following the date of grant, based on continued employment, and have a term
of ten years from the date of grant assuming continued employment. Vesting and exercisability accelerates upon achieve-
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ment of certain financial performance targets determined by the Board of Directors. If all financial performance targets
are met timely in accordance with parameters as set by the Board in its sole discretion, 25% of the shares granted
become exercisable on the third anniversary date following the date of grant and, if subsequent financial performance
targets are met for both the first and second years following the date of grant, a second 25% become exercisable four
years following the date of grant. If financial performance targets are met consecutively for all three years following the
date of grant, a third 25% become exercisable on the fifth anniversary date following the date of grant and the final 25%
become exercisable on the sixth anniversary following the date of grant. Based on fiscal 1997 and 1998 performance,
815,250 options will be exercisable on February 24, 2000. At September 30, 1998 and 1997, 169,500 and 25,000
options to purchase common stock were available for grant.

On April 4, 1997, the Company repriced certain stock options granted from October 1995 through January 1997
under the 1991 Option Plan and the 1994 Long-Term Plan. In total, options to purchase 1,647,000 shares of common
stock were repriced at an exercise price of $23.875 per share. The original vesting schedules and expiration dates associ-
ated with these stock options were also amended to coincide with the stock option repricing date. These amounts have
been included as granted and canceled options during fiscal 1997 in the summary activity table shown below.

A summary of stock option activity under the plans and agreement through September 30, 1998 follows:

WEIGHTED
AVERAGE
SHARES UNDER EXERCISE

OPTION PRICE
Outstanding at September 30, 1995 ... .o i 19,126,154 $ 4.439
GIANEE oo oo oo 3,665,506 $21.943
BXEICISEA . .ottt e (3,036,403) $ 1.994
Canceled . . ... o (968,660) $ 9.809
Outstanding at September 30, 1996 .. ... it 18,786,597 $ 6.922
Granted .. ... 5,694,814 $23.023
EXEICISEA . v v oot e e e (4,036,862) $ 3.385
Canceled . . ... (2,623,199) $26.416
Outstanding at September 30, 1997 ... . 17,821,350 $11.462
GLANTEd .« oottt 5,060,949 $33.329
EXerciSed ..o (5,370,690) $ 6.716
Canceled . . ..o (1,380,577) $20.539
Outstanding at September 30, 1998 .. ... . i 16,131,032 $19.086

Options for the purchase of 4,317,310 and 3,492,390 shares were exercisable at September 30, 1998 and 1997,
respectively.
The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at September 30, 1998:

WEIGHTED
AVERAGE
WEIGHTED REMAINING
RANGE OF AVERAGE CONTRACTUAL
EXERCISE PRICES NUMBER OUTSTANDING NUMBER EXERCISABLE EXERCISE PRICE LIFE (YEARS)
$ 0.63 - 094 401,673 401,673 $ 0.82 1.0
$ 1.13 - 4.83 1,144,180 625,140 $ 3.07 2.1
$ 584 - 950 4,500,270 1,563,750 $ 7.20 5.9
$10.28 — 13.88 361,798 361,798 $12.07 5.5
$16.63 — 21.09 3,957,508 950,173 $20.02 8.0
$25.15 — 38.44 5,765,603 414,776 $32.49 9.2

16,131,032 4,317,310
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A warrant expiring December 1, 2000 to purchase 600,000 shares of Class A Common Stock at $16.42 per share is
held by IMS Health. The warrant was issued in connection with the acquisition of Dataquest.

The Company has chosen to continue applying APB No. 25 and related interpretations in accounting for its plans.
Accordingly, no compensation cost has been recognized for the fixed stock option plans. Pursuant to the requirements of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, (FAS 123), the fol-
lowing are the pro forma net income and net income per share for the years ended September 30, 1998, 1997 and 1996
had compensation cost for the Company’s stock-based compensation plans been determined based on the fair value at the
grant date for grants under those plans:

SEPTEMBER 30,

1998 1997 1996

Net Income As reported $88,347 $73,130 $16,438
Pro forma $58,480 $62,497 $10,616

Net Income Per Diluted Common Share As reported $0.84 $0.71 $0.17
Pro forma $0.55 $0.61 $0.11

The pro forma disclosures shown above reflect options granted after fiscal 1995 and are not likely to be representa-
tive of the effects on net income and net income per common share in future years.

The fair value of the Company’s stock plans used to compute pro forma net income and diluted earnings per
share disclosures is the estimated fair value at grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The following
weighted-average assumptions were for stock options granted or modified:

1998 1997 1996
Expected life (in years) 24 -64 24 -64 24 -64
Expected volatility 40 40 .38
Risk free interest rate 4.22% — 4.39% 6.00% — 6.09% 6.00%
Expected dividend yield 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

The weighted average fair values of the Company’s stock options granted in fiscal 1998, 1997 and 1996 are $12.00,
$12.32 and $5.56, respectively.

14—EMPLOYEE BENEFIT AND DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLANS

The Company has a savings and investment plan covering substantially all domestic employees. The Company contrib-
utes amounts to this plan based upon the level of the employee contributions. In addition, the Company also contributes
fixed and discretionary amounts based on employee participation and attainment of operating margins specified by the
Board. Amounts expensed in connection with the plan totaled $5.4, $4.6, and $3.2 million for the years ended Septem-
ber 30, 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively.

15—GEOGRAPHIC DATA
The Company’s consolidated revenues are generated primarily through direct sales to clients by domestic and interna-
tional sales forces, a network of independent international distributors, and to a lesser extent by international joint ven-
ture partners. The Company defines “Europe Revenues” as revenues attributable to clients located in England and the
European region and “Other International Revenues” as revenues attributable to all other areas located outside of the
United States.

European identifiable tangible assets consist primarily of the assets of the European subsidiaries and include the
accounts receivable balances carried directly by the subsidiaries located in England, France and Germany. All other
European customer receivables are maintained by, and therefore are included as identifiable assets of, the U.S. operations.
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Summarized information by geographic location is as follows (in thousands):

FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,

1998 1997 1996
United States:
Revenues $402,957 $333,038 $253,451
Operating Income $ 74,191 $ 62,884 $ 26,359
Identifiable tangible assets $551,030 $407,262 $282,201
Europe:
Revenues $183,803 $121,971 $ 98,789
Operating Income $ 52,879 $ 36,800 $ 15,968
Identifiable tangible assets $ 93,409 $ 73,974 $ 50,564
Other International:
Revenues $ 55,197 $ 56,230 $ 42,432
Operating Income $ 16,467 $ 16,929 $ 7,113
Identifiable tangible assets $ 31,888 $ 27,654 $ 18,199

Excluding acquisition-related and nonrecurring charges, operating income in the United States was $81.5 million for

fiscal 1998 and $61.3 million for fiscal 1996.

16—SELECTED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AND STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS DATA
A summary of Selected Consolidated Balance Sheets and Statements of Operations Data is set forth below (in thousands):

BALANCE SHEETS DATA

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS DATA

TOTAL
GROSS FEES DEFERRED AML OTHER FISCAL YEAR
RECEIVABLE REVENUES REVENUE REVENUES REVENUES

Balance as of September 30, 1995 $ 115,849 $ 164,449 $237,168 $ 57,978 $295,146

Billings . ..ovviiiii 420,037 340,474 22,071 67,432

Acquisition balances................ 3,976 1,663 — —

Cash collections .................... (391,640) — — —

AML revenue amortization.......... — (296,690) 296,690 —

Other service revenue amortization — (8,479) — 8,479

Balance as of September 30, 1996 148,222 201,417 318,761 75,911 394,672

Billings . ..ooooviii 574,588 452,271 18,160 80,723

Acquisition balances................ 4,297 15,998 — —

Cash collections .................... (516,007) — — —

AML revenue amortization. . ........ — (399,373) 399,373 —

Other service revenue amortization — (12,983) — 12,983

Balance as of September 30, 1997 211,100 257,330 417,533 93,706 511,239

Billings ... 685,082 539,530 24,940 106,821

Acquisition balances................ 2,365 7,646 — —

Cash collections .................... (647,602) — — —

AML revenue amortization. ......... — (487,837) 487,837 —

Other service revenue amortization i (22,359) [ 22,359

Sale of GartnerLearning............. (7,577) (3,199) — —

Balance as of September 30, 1998 $ 243,368 $ 291,111 $512,777 $129,180 $641,957

For a description of the Company’s revenue recognition policies, see Note 1—Significant Accounting Policies. AML
revenues shown above of $512.8, $417.5, and $318.7 million for fiscal 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively, are recognized
as services and products are delivered, and the Company’s obligation to the client is completed over the contract period.
Included in AML revenue are catch-up adjustments also shown above for the fiscal years 1998, 1997, and 1996 of $24.9,
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$18.2, and $22.1 million, respectively, to account for certain renewals. Catch-up adjustments occur when there is a lag
between the month that a contract expires and the month that it is renewed. The Company continues to provide services
for a certain period of time after expiration, based on the Company’s historical experience that most clients who do not
renew prior to expiration do so on a retroactive basis. The Company recognizes no revenues, however, during this period.
When a client renews the service on a retroactive basis, the Company records the previously unrecognized revenue as a
catch-up adjustment.

17—QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)
(In thousands except per share data)

Fiscal Year 1998 st 2nd 3rd 4th
Revenues $162,667 $149,565 $160,992 $168,733
Operating Income $ 41,145 $ 31,083 $ 35,462 $ 35,847
Net Income $ 25,644 $ 20,099 $ 22,982 $ 19,622
Diluted earnings per common share $ 0.25 $ 0.19 $ 0.22 0.19
Fiscal Year 1997 Tst 2nd 3rd 4th
Revenues $125,367 $119,125 $126,349 $140,398
Operating Income $ 31,519 $ 29,620 $ 28,842 $ 26,632
Net Income $ 19,042 $ 18,200 $ 18,455 $ 17,433
Diluted earnings per common share” $ 019 $ 018 $ 018 $ 0.17

™ The aggregate of the four quarters’ diluted earnings per common share does not total the reported full fiscal year
amount due to rounding.

18—SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On November 12, 1998, the Company’s Board of Directors approved an agreement in principle with IMS Health Inc.
(“IMS Health”) which owns 47.6 million or 47% of the Company’s Class A Common Stock to undertake a recapitaliza-
tion of the Company and facilitate a tax-free spin-off by IMS Health of its equity position in Gartner Group Inc. to its
shareholders. As part of the recapitalization, IMS Health will exchange 40.7 million shares of Class A Common Stock for
an equal number of shares of new Class B Common Stock of the Company prior to the spin-off. This new class of com-
mon stock will be entitled to elect at least 80% of the Company’s Board of Directors, but will otherwise be substantially
identical to existing Class A Common Stock. The Class B Common Stock will be distributed to IMS Health shareholders
in a tax-free distribution. IMS Health will continue to hold 6.9 million shares of Class A Common Stock after the spin-
off. It is the intention of IMS Health to sell these shares within one year of the spin-off, subject to certain conditions. In
addition, the Company agreed that it would pay a one-time special cash dividend of $300.0 million to its shareholders of
record immediately prior to the IMS Health spin-off. Further, the Company also agreed that it would repurchase $300.0
million of its Class A Common Stock on the open market after the spin-off. The exchange, spin-off and special cash divi-
dend are expected to be completed in the third quarter of fiscal 1999, subject to approval by the IRS of the tax-free sta-
tus of the spin-off and approval of the recapitalization plan by the non-IMS Health shareholders of the Company. The
share repurchase program will commence after the spin-off and is expected to be completed within one year.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON SCHEDULE

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Gartner Group, Inc.:

The audits referred to in our report dated October 30, 1998, except as to note 18, which is as of November 12, 1998,
and the eighth paragraph of note 3 (Interpose acquisition), which is as of December 10, 1998, included the related finan-
cial statement schedule as of and for the three-year period ended September 30, 1998, as contained in the 1998 annual
report on Form 10-K. This financial statement schedule is the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our respon-
sibility is to express an opinion on this financial statement schedule based on our audit. In our opinion, such financial
statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents
fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

KPMG Peat Marwick LLP
St. Petersburg, Florida
October 30, 1998
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ADDITIONS  ADDITIONS
BALANCE AT CHARGED CHARGED  DEDUCTIONS DEDUCTIONS
BEGINNING TO COSTS TO OTHER FROM FOR SALE OF BALANCE AT
OF YEAR  AND EXPENSES ACCOUNTS()  RESERVE  GARTNERLEARNING END OF YEAR
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 1996
Allowance for doubtful accounts and
returns and allowances ............. $3,690 $3,295 $121 $2,646 $ — $4.,460
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 1997
Allowance for doubtful accounts and
returns and allowances ............. $4,460 $3,421 $319 $2,860 $ — $5,340
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 1998
Allowance for doubtful accounts and
returns and allowances ............. $5,340 $4,051 $ — $3,564 $1,702 $4,125

M Allowances of $319 and $121 assumed upon acquisitions of entities in fiscal 1997 and 1996, respectively.
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